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L INTRODUCTION!
In 1970, _Brucé B. Wilson of the United States Department of Justice, Antitrust

Division, laid out what he considered to be nine provisions commonly found in patent license

 agreements Whichjwerc.anticompeﬁtive and therefore would be pursued under the antitrust laws

by the Depaﬂment of Justice. These provisions became commonly known to the bar as the nine
no-nos”. This paper will examine the status of thé nine “no-nos” in light of case law and
Department of Justice policy which has evolved since Mr. Wilson’s pronouncement. The paper
also will examine the antitrust implications of acquiring intellectual property and in refusing to

: liqense intellectual property, as well as other litigation—related issues. Finally, the paper will

address issues unique to trademark and copyright law.

IL THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN THE PATENT MISUSE
- DOCTRINE AND ANTITRUST ALLEGATIONS -

Anticompetitive acfs c;ﬁﬁétitﬁting patent misuse is a complete defense to a patent
infringement action. Senza-Gel Corp. v. Seiffhart, 803 F.2d 661, 668 (Fed. Cir. 1986). A
successful patent misuse defense results in rendering the pétent unenforceable until the misuse
is purged. Id. .at 668 n.10. The same acts may also be used offensively to constitute an element
' ofan antitrust claim. A successful complaint for antitrust violation results not only in
unenforceability but also in treble damages. /d It is iinportant to note that a patentee’s actions

may constitute misuse without rising to the level of an antitrust violation.

. I wish to acknowledge the contribuﬁons of Arthur Gray, Paul Heller, and Kevin
Godlewski. Ialso acknowledge use of a paper by Gerald Sobel of Kaye, Scholer,
Fierman, Hays & Handler, entitled “Exploitation of Patents And The Antitrust-
Laws.” - '
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-Patent misuse is viewed as a broader wrong than antitrust violation because of
the economic power that may be derived from the patentee’s right to exclude.
Thus misuse may arise when conditions of antitrust violation are not met. The
key inquiry is whether, by imposing conditions that derive their force from the
patent, the patentee has impermissibly broadened: the scope of the patent grant
with anucompetltwe effect.
CR. Bard Inc V. M3 Sj/s Inc., 157F. 3d 1340 1372 (Fed C1r 1998) cert, demed 119'S. Ct.

1804 (1999) .

11_'1';'. ANALYTICAL TOOLS FOR ANTITRUST ISSUES

A.  PERSEANALYSIS

o Certam types of conduct presumably restraln trade and are therefore per se
illegal The Supreme Court still uses the per se analysis in some situations See Jeﬁ’erson h
Par:sh Hospztal V. Hyde 466 U S 2 (1984) However the per serule should not necessarily be
_ -rcons1dered a pure per se rule The per se rule is apphed when surroundmg clrcumstances
‘make the likelihood of anticompetitive conduct S0 great as to render unjustiﬁed further o
examination of the challenged action. NCAA v. Board of Regents of Univ. of Oklahoma, 468
U. S 85, 104 (1986) Since Congress 1ntended to outlaw only unreasonable restramts on trade,
the Supreme Court deems unlawful per se only those restraints Wthh “have such. predictable
'. .and pernlcrous antrcompentrve effect and such lrrmted potentlal for pro competrtlve ‘oenefit
State Ozl Co V. Khan 522 U S.3, 118 S. Ct 275 279 (1997) The Court expresses a
reluctance to adopt per se rules wrth regard to restramts 1mposed in the context of business
relationshrps where the economic nnpact of eertam practiceslis" not irnnlediately ob'\'rious.’;_‘ Id,
quoting FTC'v. Indiana Federation of Dentists, 476 U.S, 447, 458-59 (1986).
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The Department of Justrce (DOJ) and the Federal Trade Commrssron (FTC)
released antitrust guldehnes m Aprrl of 1995 entltled “U S Department of Justrce & Federal
. Trade Comrmssmn Antitrust Guldehnes for the Llcensmg of Intellectuai Property ”: Reprrnted |
1n 4 Trade Reg Rep. (CCH) T 13,132 (Aprll 6, 1995) (heremafter “1995 IP Gurdelmes ’) In
the 1995 IP Guidelines, the DOJ and the FTC (collectively, “the Agencies™) remarked that
those licensing restraints which have been held to be per se unlawful include “nalred price-
ﬁxing, output restraints, and market division among horizontal competitors, as well as certain
group boycotts and resale price m.amtenance ” IP Guldehnes, at 20 741 The DOJ wﬂl
: chailenge a restrarnt under the per se ruie when “there is no efﬁoiency-enhancmg integration of

' _economic act1v1ty and if the type of restramt is  one that has been accorded per se treatment

o _Id The DOJ noted that, generally speaking, f‘hcensrng arrangements promote such [efﬁcrency -

enhancmg] 1ntegrat10n because they facﬂltate the combmation of the licensor S 1ntellectua1

| property with complementary factors of productron owned by the hcensee.” Id.

_ B  RULE OF REASON ANALYSIS
| "~ Most antitrust claims_:are .ana_lyzed under a rule of reason, %‘accOrding to .which
| the_ ﬁnder of factmust decide uf_hether._the ques__tioned practi_ce imposesan unreasonahle restraint
on competition, taking into account various factors including speciﬁc.information ahout- the
| relevant busmess its condition before and after the restraint was 1mposed and the restramt s
‘hlstory, nature, and effect ? State Orl Co. v. Khan 522 U S 3 118 S Ct 275 279 (1997) |

When analyzmg a restramt under the rule of reason, the DOJ wﬂl consrder “whether the




restraint is likely to have_antic,ompetrtive effects and, if so, whether the restraint is reasonably
neceseary Ito.achieye procompetlitiye .b.eneﬁté that outweiéh those anticompetitive effects.”
1995 TP Guidelines, at 20,740.
- The 1995 IP Guidelines ‘fembody.three general principles: (a) for _the__,purpose of
antitrust analysrs the Agencres regard intellectual property as being essentially comparable to
' any other form of property, (b) the Agenc1es do not presume that 1ntellectual property creates
rnarket power in the antrtrust context and (c) the Agencres recogmze that 1ntellectual property
licensing allows firms to combine complementary factors of production and is generally
procompetltlve ” 1995 IP Guidelines, at 20, 734
| “chensrng arrangements raise concerns under the antttrust laws if they are likely
.to .affect adversely the prlcee qnantlttes;, qualltlee, or varletles of goods and services either .-
..: cnrrently or potentrally avallable Id at 20 737 In assessmg the competrtlve effects of
licensing arrangements, the ]jOJ may be requlred to delmeate goods markets, technology
markets, or innovation (research and dcvelopment) markets. Id. | |
'l When a licensing arrengement e.ffects parties. ina hor'izontal.relation.ship, a
. restraint in that relationship may increase the risk of coordinated pricing, output
_ restrictions, or the acquisition or maintenance of market power.... The potential

for competitive harm depends in part on the degree of concentration in, the

difficulty of entry into, and the responsiveness of supply and demand to changes

in price in the relevant markets. .
d at 20,742; see also Stnte .Oil Co. ¥ Khaﬁ,“. 118 S. Ct_.; .at 282 .(“.[t]he primary purpose of the
antitrust layvs is to. prote.ct. interbrand_ competition.’?j, -
.When the ltcensor and .the llic.ensees__are in a vertical retationship, the Agencies will

analyze whether the licensing arrangement may harm competition among entities in a
‘horizontal relationship at either the level of the licensor or the licensees, or possibly in
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another relevant market. Harm to competition from a restraint may occur if it =« -
anticompetitively forecloses access to, or increases competitors’ costs of obtaining,
~important inputs, or facilitates coordination to raise price or restrict output. - -

IP Guidelines at 20,742.

" If the Agencies conclude that the restraint has, or is likely to have, an anticompetitive
effect, they will consider whether the restraint is reasonably necessary to achieve
" procompetitive efficiencies. If the restraint is reasonably necessaty, the Agencies will
balance the procompetitive efficiencies and the anticompetitive effects to deterrmne the
- probable net effect on competltlon in each relevant market. :

Id at 20,743.
- In an effort to encourage intellectual property licensing agreements, which the
Agencies believe promote innovation and enhance competition, the IP Guidelines establish an
antitrust “safety zone”. This “safety zone” is designed to create more stability and certainty for
those parties who engage in intellectual property licensing. However, the “safety zone” is not
-intended to be the end-all for lawful, procompetitive intellectual property licenses, as the
“Agencies emphasize that licensing arrangements are not anticompetitive merely because they
do not-‘fal__ll'Within‘the scope of the safety zone.” Id at 20,743-2. The “safety zone” is defined
as follows: " -
1. Absent extraordinary circumstances, the Agencies will not challenge a
restraint in an intellectual property licensing arrangement if (1) the
- restraint is not facially anticompetitive and (2) the licensor and its
licensees collectively account for no more than twenty percent of each
relevant market significantly affected by the restraint.... Whether a-
restraint falls within the safety zone will be determined by reference only
~ - to goods markets unless the analysis of goods markets alone would

- inadequately address the effects of the licensing arrangement on
~‘competition among technologies or in research and development.




Id. (emphasm aclded) (footnote ormtted)

2.. - - Absent extraordmary cxrcumstanceq, the Agene1es will not challenge a
B ‘restraint in an intellectual property licensing arrangement that may affect
competition in a technology market? if (1) the restraint is not facially
_anticompetitive and (2) there are four or more independently controlled
~ technologies in addition to the technologies controlled by the parties to
the licensing arrangement that may be substitutable for the licensed
2 'technology ata comparable cost to the user. uo

Id (empha51s added)

3. Absent extraordinary c1rcumstances the Agencles w111 not challenge a
restraint in an intellectual property licensing arrangement that may affect
competition in an_innovation market® if (1) the restraint is not facially
‘anticompetitive and (2) four or more independently controlled entities in

-addition to the parties to the licensing arrangement possess the required
specialized assets or characteristics and the incentive to engage in

“research and development that is a close substitute of the research and
development activities of the parties to the licensing agreement.

-Id (empha31s added) (footnote om1tted)
£ - Views on how the Antitrust DlVlSlon has conducted its rule of reason analysm to
'.'d.etermme Whether a parttcular 11cense Vloletes the antitrust lews are reﬂected in Remarks of
Roger B Andewelt, Deputy D1rector of 0perat1ons Ant1trust D1v151on, before the Amerlcan

' Bar Assoc1at10n, Patent Trademark & Copyrlght Sectlon (heremafter “Andewelr (1985)”) (July

16, 1985).

. The 1995 Guidelines describe techho"log'y métrkets as COnSiSting of “the
-intellectual property that is hcensed -and its close substltutes

'3 The 1995 Guldehnes describe innovation markets as consisting of “the research
~and development directed to particular new or improved goods or processes, and
the close substitutes for that research and development.”
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[Plerhaps the ultimate licensing issue -- how does the Antitrust Division conduct its rule -
of reason analysis to determine whether a particular license violates the antitrust laws[?]
While patent licenses, even between competitors, [are] at their essence vertical and not

- horizontal arrangements, they can in some circumstances have horizontal
* anticompetitive effects Our. rule of reason ana,lys1s would exclusrvely search for such
' horrzontal effects S s :

Andewelt (1985) at 18

Where an intellectual property hcense is merely a sham to hide per se illegal horizontal
restraints, such as an agreement to fix prices on products unrelated to the intellectual.
property involved, the analysis of the lawfulness of the license is short and - .
condemnation certain. In all other situations, however, a more studled analysrs of the

E effect of the hcense would be reqmred

The analysis typrcally would commence by 1solat1ng the relevant product and
- geographic markets impacted. We would define these markets in the manner described

for defining markets in the Antitrust Division’s Merger Guidelines. U.S. Department of

" Justice Merger Guldelrnes (Ant:ltrust Dwrsron June 14; 1984) 49 Fed. Reg 26,823

(1984).

~ . Id at19.

7 Onge the product and geographic markets are defined, the analysis would proceed with

an assessment of the competitive effect of the license in these markets. The focus of this

‘analysis would not be on the ‘extent to which the license creates competition between the

licensor and the licensee or among licensees. The licensor has no obligation to create

" competition- antitrust policy demands only that the licensor not restrain competition. A

patent license therefore typically will not be of competitive concern if it impacts only

‘competition in the use, manufacture, distribution, or sale of the patented invention; the

patent grant already gives the patent owner the right to exclude all such competition.

Id at 19-20.

Instead of focusing on the failure to create competition, antitrust analysis should
generally focus on the extent to which the license decreases competition. Sometimes
the effect of a patent hcense extends beyond products embodying the patented invention
and can reach competition in competing products. For example, licenses can decrease
competition compared to no license at all, when they decrease the licensee’s incentive or

free dom to market products that compete wrth products embodymg the invention, or




decrease the licensee’s incentive or freedom to engage in [research and development]
almed at producmg such competmg products o

Id. at 20.

" The license is illegal if on a net basis it is anticompetitive. ‘In addition... a particular

- provision [in a procompetitive] license is illegal if it is anticompetitive in itself,andis

not reasonably related to serving any of the procompetxtlve beneﬁts of the hcense

Id at 21-22.

“IV. © THE NINE NO-NQ’s -- LICENSING PROVISIONS TO WATCH FOR -

A. TIE-INS

" A “tie-in” is an arrangement in which a seller conditions the sale of its product

upoﬁ"ﬁf-ﬁiij}er’s purchase of a separate product from the seller or a designated third party. . The

anticompetitive vice is the denial of access to the market for the tied product. -

L '_’Tying isa per se violation of the Sherman Act only if it is probable that the
seller has exploited its control over the tying product to force the buyer intothe purchase of a
tied'.pr(.):duct that the buyer either did not want at all, or might have preferred to purchase - -
elsewhere on different terms. . Jefferson Parish, 466 U.S. at 12- 16
In Jeﬁersbn':Parish,"lthe 'per""se'rul.e was reaffirmed bj a bare majority. of the Supr_eme

Court, w1ththe soundness of the rule having come under attack. As stated by the court i
Mozart Co. v. Mercedes—Benz of North America, Inc., 833 F.2d 1342, 1345 n.2 (9th Cir..1987),
cert. denied, 488 U.S. 870 (1988): |

© Tiwo iTﬁsfiées’ relied on Congress’ silence as a justification for preserving the per se rule.

. See 466 U.S. at 32, 104 S. Ct. at 1568 (Brennan, J., concurring). Four Justices,
- recognizing that tying arrangements may have procompetitive effects, would analyze




*these arrangements under the Rule of Reason. Jd. at 32-47, 104 S. Ct. 1568-76
(O’Conner, J., concurring). Thoughtful antitrust scholars have expressed serious doubts
about the alleged anticompetitive effects of tie-ins. See 5 P. Areeda & D. Turner,
Antitrust Law 9 1129c, 1134b (1980); R. Bork, The Antitrust Paradox 372-75 (1978).

- For a tie-in to rise to the level of an antitrust violation, the seller must hai/e “the

- power, within-the market for the tying prodiict, to iaise “p'ri_cé"s o_r"tdrequiré purchasers to accept -

burdénsqme terms that could not be exacted in a cominletely competitive market. In short, the
question is whether the seller has some advantage not shared by his competitors in the market
for the tying product.”. United States Steel Corp. v. Fortner Enterprises Inc., 429 U.S. 610, 620
(1977). |

Courts have identiﬁed_t_hree sources of market power; (i_) when the government
has granted the seller a patent or similar monopoly over a product; (2)__when_ the seller’s share of
the market is high; and (3) when the seller offers a unique prod_u_c._t‘_that competitors are not ab}é
. to offer.: Tominga-v- Shepherd, 682 F_.--.S.upp__. 1489,.1493 A(C.D.,Call.:__ 1988); Mozart Co. v.
Mercedes-Benz of North Ameri‘ca, 833 F.2d at 1342, 1345-46. However, the Federal Circuit,
WMCh handles all appeals in cases arising under the patent laws, has stated that ‘,‘[a] patent _dp_es
not of itself establish a presumption of market power in the antitrust sense.”. Abbott Lab. v
Brennan, 952 F.2d 1346 (Fed. Cir.1991), cert. denied, 505 US 1205 (1992). ~ -

I - A1988 amendment to the patent statute addresses the market power.
requirements in a tie-in analysis, in at least the pat_ent_miéuse context. 35 U. 8.C. § 271(d)(5).
Under the statute, misuse shall not be fouﬁd by reason of a patentee having “cdnd@;iongd the
- license of any rights to the patent 01;_.the_ sale of the pa_tented product on the_aq_q}l_isit_ion ofa
license fo rlghts -in. énotﬁér- patent of_- pufchaée of ;_-separa.:t.é product,unless 1n v1ew0f the
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' circumstances, the patent owner has market power in the relevant market for the patentor
patented product on which the license or sale is conditioned.”

The 'Jo.st'ioesbepar“tnlent also will require proof of market power, apart from the

_existence of a patent right, in order to invoke the antitrust laws against a tie-in. The 1995 IP - |

Guidelines state that tying arrangements are likely to be challenged by the DOJ (and/or the
 Federal Trade Commission) if:

(1) the seller has market power in the tying product, (2) the arrangement has an adverse
. effecton competition in the relevant market for the tied product, and (3} efficiency

justifications for the arrangement do not outweigh the anticompetitive effects. The =

[DOJ and the FTC] will not presume that a patent... necessanlv confers market power _

upon its owner. -

IP Guldehnes at 20 743-3 (footnotes omltted) (empha31s added) The DOJ and the FTC deﬁne
market poWer as the ablhty proﬁtably to maintain pnces above or output below competltlve i
levels for a s1gn1ﬁcant perlod of time.” Id at 20 735 (footnote om1tted)

B Even Where market power is present t1e—1ns may be Justlﬁed and not v1olat1ve of

" the Sherman Actif they are technic'al-ly.neees.sary..' In one case, tie-in provisions in a license
agteenllent:conditioning the :lice'n.se.ofe wood p:f.esefvativle on the use of a p'articulai'- organic
sol\tent wete held to neoessary to insure Sdfﬁéient quality and effectiveness of the wood
presel.';rati\:re, and therefore not an dntitrnst_\'r:iolation.' Idacon Inc. v. Ceniral Forest Products, 3
U.S.2.Q.2d 1079 (E.D. oiila‘.'igssi. .Lil.c'ewis'e, tie-in provisions conditioning the sale ofa *

| patented s.ilo unload‘er'on use of silos by the :sdme mennfactnrer were held j_tistiﬁed where

attempits to use silos manufactured by others together with the patented product had proved

10




unsuccessful. De}g/drating Process_Co.: v A O Smith.C_’orp., 292. F.2d 653 (‘lst. Cir.), cert. B
denied, 368 U.S. 931 (l961). : | |
.. The Ninth Circuit has 'rule_d.that a tie-in does not violate the antitrust laws if
implemented fora legitimate purpose_ ahd if no less restrictive alternative is available. In ) |
.”Mozart Co V. Mercedes-Benz of North Amerzca agreements between the exclusrve U. S |
distributor of Mercedes-Benz automobiles (MBNA) and franchlsed dealershtps requrred the

dealers to sell only genuine Mercedes parts or parts expressly approved by the German

manufacturer "o:f _M"e'rce'des 'a’utornobilés' and their'replacement' parts. The 'Coﬁrt'found substantial |

' ev1dence to support MBNA’s claim that the tie-in was uséd to assire quahty control and
concluded that the tie-in was nnplemented fora leg1t1mate purpose, and that less reStI‘ICtIVe
alternattt(es_ were not avarlable. 833 F.2d at 1348-51. Thus there was no antttrustvrolatron. ._ _

CAni issue Wl'llCh sometlmes arlses is whether a product’ is a s1ngle mtegrated _
product or two products tred together In Umted States V. Mlcrosoﬁ Corp a d1v1ded panel of
the D.C. Clrc_uit vacated a contempt order, ruling that Microsoft’s Windows 95/Internet

_Explorer package i is a genume mtegratton and that Mrcrosoﬂ was not barred from offertng 1t as

| -one product under a previous consent decree 147 F 3d 935 (D C C1r 1998) The court ruled
that an integrated product i isa p_rod_uc_t Whlch combtnes functtonahtres (whlch may also be
marketed separately and operated together) ina way that offers advantages unavatlable ifthe
functionalities are bought separately and combmed by the purchaser ” Id at 948 The court
explained that: 7.

The question is not whether the integration is a net plus but merely whether there is a

plausible claim that it brings some advantage. Whether or not this is the appropriate test

11




-for antitrust Jaw generally, we believe it is the only sensible readmg of [the consent
decree].

Id at 950 (emphasm in or1g1nal)

The dlssentmg opirnon urged a balancmg test Where o

- the greater the evidence of- distinct markets the more of a showin.g of synergy Microsoft - ...

must make in order to justify incorporating what otherw1se would be an ‘other’ product
into an ‘integrated’ whole. If the evidence of distinct markets is weak, then Microsoft
can get by with a fairly modest showmg (although perhaps not the minimal showing
requrred by the majority).
Id at 959 The dlSSent also rellcd on Jeﬁerscm Parish, Wthh it concluded d1d not perrmt a
product to be ¢ 1ntegrated” snnply “where some beneﬁt ex1sts asa result of joint prov1sron ” Id
at 961 (emphasm in orlglnal)

Subsequently, the Justtce Department brought a Sherman Act clann agamst

Microsoft After a lengthy trial the d1str1ct court 1ssued ﬁndings of fact and conclusrons of law

L e
ms.,mr )

_ _:m Whlch it held that Microsoft had vrolated the Sherman Act Umted States v. Mzcrosoﬁ 84 F
Supp 2d9 (D D C. 1999), and 87F. Supp 2d 30 (D D.C. 2000) Inits ﬁndmgs of fact the court
~ found that Microsoft was a monopollst which had tied access to 1ts Wmdows operatmg system
to its Intemet Explorer web browser The court ﬁrst found that M1crosoft enj oys monopoly
_povrer in the relevant market ”? 84 F Supp 2d at 19 4 The court found that Mlcrosoft’ o
dommant market share was protected by an apphcations barner to entry » That i is, ,the |
significant number of software applications available to a user of the Windows operating.‘ a

system, and lack of signiﬁcant ayailable applications for other lntel-cornpatible operating

4 The court found that the relevant market is “the hcensrng of all Intel-compatible - -
PC operat:lng systems world-wide.” Id. at 14.

12




.systems, presents a signiﬁeant hurdle for a potentially competitive operating system. 1d. at 18-
20. The court found that:

| The overwhelming majority of consumers will only use a PC operating system for

~ which there already exists a large and varied set of high-quality, full-featured

~ applications, and for which it seems relatively certain that new types of applications and

“"""new versions of exzstmg apphc,atlons w111 contmue to- be marketed at: pace w1th those

) ] .wrttten for other operatlng systems | '. o SR :
Id at 18.

L The operatmg system supports the apphcatlons by exposmg mterfaces termed |
“API’ ” " 1d. at 12 The court found that Mlcrosoft feared that the appllcatlons bamer to entry |
could be breached by so-called “middleware,” which it stated “relies on the mterfaces prov1ded _
by the underlymg operatmg system whlle snnultaneously exposmg 1ts own APIs 1o deyelopers. ?

Id at 17-1 8 28 The court found that Mtcrosoft beheved that ﬂ'llS mlddleware could prowde | |
.consumers w1th extenswe appheatlons through the1r own APIs while bemg capable of running
i on many dlfferent operatmg systems. Thus, the barrier to entry mthe ooerattng system marhet
coul_d be greatly:dlmt_ntshed, and chrosoﬂ_’:s_l monopoly in .operatmg systems thereby | A
' .threat_ened.__ __See_ Id at 28. Netscap_e Naytgator anct Sun’s Java technotogies vtrere mlddleware | _
which the court found to be parttcularly_ thr_eatening___to \Microso_ft’s op.erating. system mononoly;
Id. Much of the_court’s _ﬁnd_ings focused on.Microso’.ft’s re_sponse to Netscabe Navigator ..\_?‘V_eb
bmwsgrfn _ . . o .
_ Wlth respect to the Netscape Nav1gator Web browser the court found ﬁrst that

Web browsers and operating systems are separate products based on the preference of many

consumers to. separate,-their.ehqiceof Web browser from choice of an operating system, and th_e

13
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response of software firms in efficiently supplying the products separately. Id. at 48-49. The

court then found that “Microsoft decided to bind Internet Explorer to Windows in order to

prevent Navigator from weakening the applications barrier to entry, rather than for any pro-"

with Windows: (i) by contractually requiring its OEM customers to ship IE with Windows, and

_ (2) by technically binding IE to Windows so that, as one Microsoft executive wrote, “running

arly other browser is 2 j olting experience.” Id at 49-53. The court found that, with Windows

95, Microsoft initially permitted uninstallation of IE, but eventually precluded even that ste_p.

Wrth Windoifvs 98, Microsoﬂ‘..n.ot only precluded uninstallatiorr of IE, in certain instances it

‘tequired IE to override another browser which was installed as a “default” browser. 1d: at 52

" The court also found that there was “no technical reason” why Microsoft (1).

‘féftised to llcense Windows 95 w1thout IE versrons 1.0,2.0, 3.0 or 4.0; (2) refused to perrmt

OEM’S to umnstall IE 3 0 or 4.0; and (3) refused to “meet consurer demand for a browserless
version of Windows 98.” Id. at 53-54. In essence, the cburt also found that Microsoft provided
no benefit to consumers by bundling Windows and IE:

Mlcrosoft could offer consumers all the benefits of the current Windows 98 package by

distributing the products separately and allowing OEM’s or consumers themselves to
combine the products if they wished. :

 Id. at 56, emphasis added.”

S This finding appears to address the D.C. Circuit’s ruhng that an’ 1ntegréti0n”- N

must provide a “plausible claim that [bundling the functionalities ‘together] brings some
advantage” over providing them independently. 147 F.3d at 950. Presumably, a product

package which qualifies as an “integration” under the D.C. Circuit’s test could be more d1fﬁcult- --
to establish as an illegal tying of two products under the Sherman Act. & o
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__competitive purpose.” Id. at 48. 'The eo’rrrr_st_ated that Microsoft bound Internet Explorer (“IE”)




. The court further explained that Microsoft forbade OEMs ﬁom obscuring IE, :
imposed technical restrictioﬁs to increase the cost of promoting Navigator, effered valuable
: cmsiderétion.to OEMs pi'omoﬁng IE exclusively, and threatened to penalize OEMSs who
‘insisted on pre-mstalhng and promotmg Nav1gator 84 F. Supp 2d at 69 The court also } N
analyzed Mlcrosoft’s conduct w1th respect to internet access prov1ders (such as Amerlca
Online), internet content providers (such as PointCast and Disney), and others (such as_Apple),
' and _feund,that Microsoft had taken great pains to make it more incenyenient for consumers to
- navigate the Web using Netscape Navigator. See /d. at 69-98°
The court found that Microsoft greatly increased its share of the browser market |
in approximately two years, at Navigator’s expense. The court noted that Micros;oft’__s _
improvements to IE and its decisipn to give it away free playe_d_a _role in that market shift.
However, “[t]he relative shares would not have changed nea;ly as_;pgeh asthey d1d e had
Microsoft not devoted its monopoly power and m_onopqu profits to precisely that ‘end.” Id. at
* 98. The court concluded that this erosion of Navigator market share was sufficient to 'prese_rye
the barriers to entry in the operating system market.

. Navigator’s 1nstalled base may continue to grow, but Internet Explorer’s installed base
.1s now larger and growing faster. Consequently, the APIs that Nav1gator exposes will

6 In these dealings, Microsoft generally was not licensing Windows to the

providers, as it does with OEMs. The court focused its analysis instead on Microsoft’s control of

access to the Windows desktop, channel bars and other features used by consumers. The court
found that Microsoft would permit (or refuse) access by providers to these interfaces provided by
Windows to barter favorable treatment for IE, and to make Navigator a less-favored browser.

For example, the court found that Microsoft permitted an AOL jcon to be 1ncluded in the Online g
Services folder in Windows only upon obtalmng AOL S agreement to use IE as its default o

browser. See Id, at 77-85.
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not attract enough developer attention to spawn a body of cross-platform, network- |
centric apphcatlons large enough to dlsrnantle the apphcatlons barrier o entry.

Id at 103.

Although the court found that Mlcrosoft’s development of IE “contrlbuted to |
: -1mprov1ng the quallty of ch browsmg software lowermg its: cost and i mcreasmg its
avallabﬂlty, thereby benefitting customers,” it also erlgaged ina ser1es of actlons designed to |
protect the apphcanons barrler to entry, and hence its monoooly power from a varlety of -
mlddleware threats, including Netscape’s Web browser and Sun’s Implementatxon of Java ” Id
_ at 11 1 The net result of Microsoft’s use of its monopoly power, according to the court, was

that:

some innovations that would truly benefit consumers never occur-for the sole reason
%+ that they do not coincide with Microsoft’s self-interest. :

Idzat:112.
*+ Inits conclusions of law, the district court ruled;that Microsoft had violated -

3 Se’ction 2 of the Sherman Act by engaging in “exclusionary acts that lacked procompetitive
justification.” 87 F. Supp.2d at 39. With regard to its analysis of the tying issues under Section
2, the court stated that the D.C. Circuit’s decision set forth “an undemanding test [which] . .

_ 'appears to this Court to be‘inconsistent with the pertinent _Supreme Court precedent in at least
three respects.” Id.at 47. Those perceived flaws were (1) it views the market from the
defendant’s perspective; (2) it does not require proof of advantages of integration, but rather

“only positing a plausible advantage; and (3) it disptenses with any balancing of the advantages

against anticompetitive effects. /d. at 47-48. The court explained that under Jefferson Parish,
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Which was “indiSputably controlling,” the “character of the demand” for the products
detennined whether separate products were.in\.rolved.. Id. et 48-49; Ruling that uuder this test,
: the Wmdows operatrng system was a separate product from the Internet Explorer browser and
.ﬁrrther concludmg that the products were not bundied due to techmcal necessrty or busrness
” VVefﬁcxency, Mrcrosoft had rllegally tred the products together Id at 50 51. The court noted the
.dlfﬁculty of applyrng the Jeﬂerson Parzsh test to software products, but explalned that “thrs
Court e is not at hberty to extrap_olate anew rule governing the tylng of software products.
'Id_atﬂ_. : o : : - Ll
.‘ | On appeel, .the: DC éircuit reversed-in-pert. | Un;'ted States v. .Micmsoﬁ Corp..-,
253 F. 3d 34 (D C Clr 2001) The dlstrlot court’s rulrng on the monopoly maintenance, under
§ 2 of the Sherman Act, was afﬁrmed in part, and reversed in part. The court reversed the
fmding of liability based on a theory of attempting to monopolize browser market. The court -
- also Vacated and remanded the ruling that Microsoft rv’vas‘ ltable' for tying browser to operating.
~ system, under Sherman Act § 1. The court also vacated the remedies in light of its modification
ot‘ the-ru_ling on liability, the district court’s failure to hold a remedies hearing;' and because of
improper-ex parte contacts between the trial judge and the media.. r’d. at 45-46.
"On the mt)nopoly' maintenance claim, the court of appeals held that the government did
~ not establish liability for the integration of IE and Windows, in particular because there had -
been no rebuttal of Microsoft’s techhical justifications for the. integration. - Id. at 64-67. On the

attempted monopolization claim, the couxt found that the relevant browser market had not been

17




adequately defined, and that barriers to entry of ,the brpw§er_market_not bgex:;_establisheq? o
thereby i:recluding liability. Id. at 8.0-8_4.

. On the tying claim, the court declined to follow Jefferson Parish, and iz.zlstead. -
| lhélld .tha_t.__a rule of reasoﬁ should :ggvern ,“_tying. arrangements _inyolving _platqum lséfgware -
produc.ts..”_._: Idat .9«.4.—95. The courtnotedthat ﬂais _@ésebr_e_séﬁtéd the “first i;pf_close look atthe -
technological integration of add.ed_ functionality into software that serves as a platform for
7 tlﬁrd-p_arty applications.” Id. at 84. Embarking on its rule of reason analys_ig_,_ the court stated
that “not all ties are bad,” _ciﬁng _e;‘gamples_ of __matﬁ CO-Processors and memory into _

microprocessor chips and spell checkers in word processors. Id. at 87. _Ihe court e.xplained t_haf
1t viewggi;hé separate products test of Jefferson Parish to be a “poor p_roxyf’ for net efficiency
from newly integrated products. fd. ét___92,___ It also noted the “ubiquity” of bundling by other
. platform software vgnd9;§, and Was'_c_c_mc;rned that new e_fﬁpier‘lqi.es. may ngst in intgg;g}_iqn__in
the platform software market. Jd. at 93. Thus, the judgment of liability on j;he tyﬁn_g :claim_was
reversed.
| The use of trademarks in alleged tying arrangements somaﬁri_qc?s‘ has bk;e_n
challenged as a v?olation of the antitrust laws. In Siegel v. Chicken Delight, Inc., Chicken
‘Delight allegedly conditioned the qu_e:;nsing' of its franchise name and trade_mark_ on the
ﬁ'anchiéees’. purchasing cooking equipment, food mixes alllld_rpack/agi_r_lg e_xclugiyely f;Qm" o
Chicken D_el.ight.= 448 F.2d 43 (9th Cir. 1971), cert. denied, 405 US 955 (1972). ."_Ehe.: court
“held that the trad___emark itself was a separate item for tying purposes, and _s_o_t_hirs _coni:;actual__ y

agreement constituted a tying arrangement in violation of the Sherman Act. Id. at 49-52. In
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ruling that there ex1sted me'_separate"iteﬁls for tying purposes, the court relied on tﬁe fact that it
was not essential to the fast food franchise that the tied products of cooking equiprrient; food
mlxes and packagmg be purchased from Chicken Dehght d at 49. However, in Krehl v.
Baskm—Robbms Ice Cream Co., the Baskm—Robbms trademark was held not to be a separate e
”1terr.1“from 1.celerear.n”for tymg purposes because the 1ee cream was made by Baskm-Robbms in “
accordance “rith'secret formulae and processes.” 664 F.2d 1348 '(9th Cir. 19,82)." Likewise, in
Piiih:c‘-.'zpe. v. McDonald’s Corp., the Fourth Circuit found 'alle'gédIy ned pr_odué't:‘s}_'t'o be integral
coﬁlponents of the busines's'niethod'beiﬁg franchised, and rejected an antitrust suit. 631F.2d
303 (4th Cir. 1980), cert. denied, 451 U.S. 970 (1981). |

" The Eléventh Circuit Court of App'e"al.s" recently applied the per seruletoa
“block de'king” arran'g'emeﬁf, whereby a c‘opyrighf holder licensed certain properties on the
e'oﬂdi:ﬁ.on that the licensee also lieense other properties. MCA Television Ltd. v. Public Interest .

Corp.; 171'F.3d 1265 (11% Cir, 1999).

'B. © GRANTBACKS =
" A'lgraﬁtb"ack is a license provision in which a patentee'reqﬁires alicenseeto -
assign or licenss imjji:eireﬁlents'tei the patent to the patentee. The Supreme Court has held thata
rule of feasbﬁ test, not 2 per se test, should be used to analyze the propriety of grantbacks. See
Transparént-Wrap Machine Corp. v. Stokes & Smith Co., 329 Us. 637, reh. denied, 330 U.S.
854 ( 1947) (giaht-baeks afe not per se against phbiic‘ interest, and the specific grantback

provision at issue was not per se illegal and unenforceable). No case appears_’to have helda
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grantback clause standing alone to be an antitrust violation. Cf. 'Unitéd States v. Timken Roller
Bearing Co., 83 F. Supp. 284, 289 (N.D. Ohio 1949), aff’d, 341 U.S. 593 (1951), overruled by
Copperweld Corp. v. Independence Tube Corp:, 467 U.S. 752 (1984) (the exclusive grantbagk :
provision did not by itself violate the antitrust laws - oaly m cbnjunCﬁon with the other illegal
practices were the grantbacks “integral'pﬁﬁé of thegeneral scheme .tor suiaprés“s.tl;éc.lé.“). _ o
Courts have articulated many factors relevant to the rule of reason analysis for
grantbacks, among them:
- Il(i‘): - whether the gi‘aﬁtback'is':exdﬁsive or nonexclusive;.
| (i) - if exclusive, whether the licensee retains the right tb use the
e | improvements; |
' .(iii) " whether the grantback precludes, permits or requires the licensor to grant
“ R -~ gublicenses;
(iv) ~ whether tl.ie' grantback is limited to the scope of the licensed patents or B
" covers inventions which would not inflfingc'the licensed patent; .
(v)  the duration of the grantback; |
| (vi) ©  whether the grantback is royalty-free;
(vii) - the market power of the parties;
' .(viii)- whether the parties are competitors; and,
(ix) the effect of the grantback on the incentive for developmental research. . -
Grantback of patented subject matter broader than that of the patents 6riginally

licensed (relating to the entire field rather than only the inventive concept in the licensed
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machines) has been held to be a patent misuse, but not an antitrust violation. Duplan Corp.-v,
Deering Mifliken, Inc., 444 F: Supp. 648 (D‘.S.C. 1977), aff'd in part,-rev'd in part, 594 F.Zd,
979.(4th Cir. 1979), cert. denied, 444'U.S. 101 5 (1980). But see Robintech, Inc. v. Chemidus

Wavin Ltd, 450 F. Supp. 823 (D.D.C. 1978), aff'd 628 F.2d 142 (D.C. Cir. 1980). .~

- The existence of alternative competitive processes to -_tha"r 1nthe orlgmal ﬁ_Cé_l’_lSG . I

militates in favor of upholding the grantbacks. Santa Fe-Pomeroy Inc. v, P & Z Co., Inc., 569
F.2d 1084 (9th Cir. 1978). Pertinent considerations in assessing grantbacks include the effect.
on incentive to invest, see U.S. v. Genefal_ Electric Co., 82 F. Supp. 753, 856-58 (D.N.J. 1949),

“and on competition, see International Nickel Co. v. Ford Méto:i‘ Co., 166 F. Supp. 551
(S.D.N.Y. 1958).

. A network of grantback arrangements in an industfy, resulting in the funneling
of all inventions to the original patentee perpetuating his.cont'ro_l aﬁgr_his basic patents expired
may be illegal. Transparent-Wrap, 329 U.S. at 6,46_-..47. (1946) (dictum). See also U.S. v.-
General Electric Co. , 82 F. Supp. at 816, where such an arrangement contributed to GE’s
continued control over incandescent laIﬁp pr,icing and production volume of its competitors
after the paténts on the lamp had expired, and was held to bé_‘ a violation of § 2 of the Sherman
Act

| Currently, the DOJ evaluates grantback provisions under a rule of reason
approach, paying particular attention to whether thé grantback is exclusive and whether the -
licensor has market power in the relevant market. ;‘. S

If the Agencies determine that a particular grantback provision is likely to reduce ;
significantly licensees’ incentives to invest in improving the licensed technology, the
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Agencies will consider the extent to which the grantback provision has offsetting
procompetitive effects, such as (1) promoting dissemination of licensees’” improvements
- to the licensed technology, (2) increasing the licensors’ incentives to disseminate the
licensed technology, or (3) otherwise increasing competition and output in a relevant
‘technology or innovation market. In addition, the Agencies will consider the extent to
which grantback provisions in the relevant markets generally increase licensors’
*incentivés to innovate in the first place. ' :

IP Guidelines, at 20,743-45.

“ -~ C, - RESTRICTIONS ON RESALE OF PATENTED PRODUCT
- “Wilson’s prohibition considered it unlawful to attempt to restrict a pu;chase_r ofa

patented product in .t.he resale of that product. However, critics contend _th_a‘g restrictions on
resale should be judged by analysis parallel'to._oﬂler .verti_Cal restraints, A seller has a rightful
~incentive to achieve maximum economic re_tﬁm from intellectual property. |

sy o Since the patent right 1s exhausted by the ﬁ}"ét sale of the patented article, use .
| 'restl‘ictionsgeﬁerally may not be imposed thereaficr. E.g., Adams v. Burke, 84 U.S. (17 Wall)
453 (1873); U.S. v. Univis Lens Co., 316 U.S. 241 (1942). - For example, restrictions onbulk
sales of drug products have been upheld in-manufacming_ licenses, but not upon resa;c bya
purchaser. -U.S. v. Gldaxo Group; Lid,, 410 'U.8. 52,62 (1973); U.S. v. Ciba-Geigy Corp., 508 F.
Supp. 1118 (D.N.J. 1976); see also United States v. Bristol-Myers Co., 82 F_.R._D,.:GSS (DDC _
1979) (consent decree enjoined manufacturer from ;e_strainin_g_ the sale of drugs m bulk f_orm o
“and from imposing restricﬁons on resale).

In Mallinckrodt, Inc. v. Medipart, Inc., the patentee had affixed a “Single Use_‘ )

Only” label on its patented medical inhaler device, used to deliver radioactive material to the
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lungs ofa pat1ent. 976 F 2d 700 (Fed Cir. 1992) The patentee sued for alleged 1nduced \
mfnngement agamst refurb1shmg the 1nhaler dev1ces in v1olat10n of the proh1b1t10n agamst
reuse. Id, at 7 01 In reversmg a grant of summary Judgment for the alleged 1nfr1nger, the
.Federal Circuit held that this smgle use only restrle’uon was niot per se patent misuse, nor 1llegal
‘under the antitrust laws. The Federal Circuit explained that “[t]he appropriate critetion [for o
analyzing a restriction on a licensee’s use] is whetller {the] restriction is reasonably within the
palent grant, or wl_iethe'r tlie'pafentee has ventured beyond 'th-e patent grant and into behavior
haviag an anticompetitive effect not justifiable under the rule of reason.” d. at 708.

E Similarlf, in'B. Braun Medical Inc. v. Abbott:Laboratories; the Federal Circuit -
reversed a jury verdict of misuse which was based on jury instructions that any use restrictions -
' accompanying the sale of a patented item were impefmis’sib’le.' 124 F.3d 1419 (Fed. Cir. 1997).
| "l"he court cited two “common” examples of ‘irripermissible restrictions as use of the patent to
réstrat eomﬁetitieh-in an unpaterited product; and employing the patenl: beyond its term. .. -
However, where'a condition does not impermissibly broaden the physical or temporal scope of
| the pateht grant with anticompetitive effect; there is no misuse. |
In'PSC Inc. v. Symbol Tech. Inc.,26'F. Supp. 2d 505.(W:D.N.Y. 1998), the
| di'stﬁef-coi}r-t ruled that it was patent'misuse for a licensor to attempt fo collect royalties from-
two licensees for the same pateﬁts,.' covering the same products. The court stated that the. -
patentee’s “attempts to collect royalties for the same product violates the exhaustion doctrine, -

and iihperfniwssibly extends the scope of the pateiit grants.” Id. at 510, citing Intel Corp. v. ULSI
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Sys. Tech., Inc., 995 F.2d 1566, 1568 (Fed. Cir. 1993); Cyrix Corp. v. Intel Corp., 846 F.
Supp. 522, 539 (E.D. Tex.), 'aﬁ”d, 42 F.3d 1411 (Fed. Cir. 1994).
In 'Un"ite'd States v. Arnold, Schwinn & Co., a case not dealing with patented
) products, the Supreme Court held that territorial restraints imposed by amanufacturer on resale
by its custonrers constituted a p'er se violation of the ShermanAct 388)U.é.365- (1976), B
overruled by Coritinental T.V. Inc. v. GTE Sylvania, Inc., 433 U.S. 36 (1977). In afootnote, the
Court alluded to the possibility of a different rule as to patented'products, but declined to decide
the issue. (“We have no occasion here to consider whether a patentee has any greater rights in
this respect.”).
_ Freld of use restri_ctions,_which re.strlict the type of customer to whom a

| 'n;ranufacturing licensee may sell and the type of article it may make us‘e.and sell generally are
“upheld as lawful The seminal case in this regard is General Talkmg chtures Corp V. Westem
.Electrzc Co. 304 U. 8. 175 aff'd on reh., 305 U. S 124 (1938), reh demed 305 U.S. 675

_(193 9). Although General Talking Prctures remalns essent1ally unencumbered by later

Supreme Court pronouncements on ant1trust 1ssues lower courts “have occasronally
distinguished [1t] and held the restraint 1llegal whcre they percelved that the ﬁeld-of-use
' restrlctlon was bemg used to extend the patent mto areas not protected by the patent
| -'monopoly ” Umted States v. Studtengesellschaﬁ Kohle m. b H 670 F.2d 1122, 1133 (D C C1r
1981). Itis 1mportant to keep in mmd that although courts are reluctant to find ﬁeld of use

restrictions a v1olat10n of the Sherman Act, they will hold unlawful such restrictions if the

patent is being “stretched . . . to continue the monopoly after the sale of the product. Munters
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Corp. v. Burgess Ino’us., Inc., 201 U.S.P.Q. 756, 759 (S.D.N.Y. 1978). One court has explained

that, under the rule of reason approach set forth in Continental T V, Inc. v. GTE Sylvania Inc.,
433 U.S. 36 (1977), “what is beyond the protection of the patent laws in this case is also

| forbidden by.the antitrust laws.” 201 U.S.P.Q._at .759_. |

" The Justioe Department has indicated tha resirictons o resl ought 0 be

* judged by the same general standards as those that ought to be in use outside the patent field,

that is, the rule of reason expressed in Continental T.V.

‘D. RESTRICTIONS ON LICENSEE’S FREEDOM TO DEAL IN
- PRODUCTS AND SERVICES NOT IN SCOPE OF PATENT

Wilson’s prohibition stated that a patentee may not restrict its licensee’s freedom

to :deel in:oroducts or eervrces not vﬁthin the: scopeof the .oatent.: Howeirer; critics cont.e'nd'th.éit
the rule has no general vahdlty m-tne vert1ca1 context o | |

| Several Courts have held that it is a patent mzsuse to redulre a 11censee fo refram
from deahng in competltlve products See Berlenbach V. Anderson & Thompson Skz Co 329
F.2d 782 (9th Cir. ), cert demed 379 U. S 830 (1 964) McCullough V. Kammerer C’orp 166
F.2d 759 (9th C1r.) cert. demed 335 Us. 813 (1948)' National Lock Washer Co. v, George K
Garrett Co 137 F. 2d 255 (3d Clr 1943), Krampe V. Ideal Indus Inc, 347F. Supp 1384
(N D. 1 1 1. 1972) At least one court however has upheld a prov1s.10n convertlng a license
from excluswe to non—exclusrve if the licensee handled competmg products See Naxon
Teleszgn Corp V. Bunker Ramo Corp 517F. Supp. 804 (N.D. 111 1981) aﬁ“’d 686 F. 2d 1258

(7th Cir. 1982) Moreover at least one court has ruled that the amendment to 35 US. C §
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| 271(d)(5), precluding a presumption of market power from the existence of a patent, applies to "

a “tie-out.” In re Recombinant DNA Tech. Patent & Contract Lit, 850 F. Supp. 769, 776-77

. (S.D.Ind. 1994).
~ In an interesting turn, one court upheld a contractual restriction against a }icensor

marketing unpatented products whlch cornpeted with those of an exclusrve patent licensee. See

Abbott Laboratorzes V. Baxter Pharmaceutzcal Prods., Inc 2002 U S. Drst LEXIS 5475 (N.D.

11l. Mar. 26, 2002). In Abbott, Baxter echu__sive_ly licensed patent rights to Abbott related to an-

anaesthetic called sevoflurane. Baxter later acquired a company which had developed a

scvoflurane product which did not mfrmge the hcensed patent ri ghts and took steps to market _

-~ the acqulred product The court conﬁrmed an arbltratlon rulmg that Baxter breached a duty of S—

good farth owed to Abbott by acqutrlng and planmng to market the competmg (albert non-

1nfrmg1ng) sevoﬂurane product The court rej ected Baxter s argument that any agreement _

imputed between the parties that Baxter would not compete in the sevoﬂurane market would be

a violation of the antitrust laws. The court applied a rule of reason analysis, and exp_lamed that
the licensing arrangement was pro-competitive in that it promoted Abbott’s investment to

introduce sevoflurane into the market, and did not restrain other competitors from entering the

market. Id. at *¥32-33.

When a license prevents a licensee from dealing in competing technologies, the
DOJ will evaluate the agreement under the rule of reason. The DOJ will consider whether such
an arrangement “is likely to reduce competition in a relevant market,...tak{ing] into account the

extent to which the arrang_em_ent (1) promotes the exploitation and development of the
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licensor’s technology and (2) anticompetitively forecloses the exploitation and development of,
or otherwise constrains competitively forecloses the exploitation and development of, or

otherwise constrains competition among, competing technoflogies.” IP Guidelines, at 20,743-4.

E. LICENSEE CONSENT REQUIRED FOR
LICENSOR TO GRANT OTHER LICENSES

The prohlbltlon stated that iti 1s unlawful for a patentee to agree w1th 1ts Ticensee

| thef it Will ﬁot grant licenses to anyone Witheut 'the l_icensee’s conSent. However, a lic'ense_e-’s
success in e):{p-leitiné a:patent depends upon.its‘ inve-stxm'eht in research and de\}elopme'nt, the "
fruii:s of which hia')-r".net b‘eﬁpa‘tenteble; 'i'n its phyéieai planf; .in its :geOd{é»ril'l; and in its rﬁarketing
capablhty That inveefeieﬁt .r'h.eyzbe jrﬁs“t.i‘ﬁed enly if the Iieensee expect:s:eome ieve'l of return
The Sliprenié Court, 1nEBement & Sons v. National Harrow Co., held that it Wae nota -
Sherman Act ;ieletioh for a patentee to agree.that. ;ﬁe.pé’t‘énte.e would r'ief'lic'ense.:aihs# othier o
person tomanufactureor sellany licensed product of the 'pecu.lier'style and e'ehs&eetioﬁ then
used or sold by the hcensee 186 U. S. 70 (1902) The Court noted that any agreement
contammg such a prov151on is proper “for the protectlon of the individual who is the hcensee,
an'd. .is"notﬂing.inefe 111 effect than an.aséi:gnineht .oi'_.'sale of the exclusive ﬁght to .rﬁaiiuf‘éiétﬁi'e
and vend the article.” Id at 94.

a - The currentv1ew of tile DOJls tha.t"“genefe‘lly, an ekelﬁeive license may raise
antitfeét cko.ncerr;s‘ o;ﬂy if thé :lieensees‘therhsel‘v'es, or the lieeﬁsof and its liee'nsees',' are in a
 horizontal relationship.” 1P Guidelines, at 20,742, Examples of such licénsing arrangements.
which may ralseantltrust concerns“mclude '.'eress-']ieeﬁsiﬁg by parﬁes"eoliéetiv:ely poese'ssiﬁé -
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market power, grantbacks, and acquisitions of intellectual property rights.” Id. (citations .

omitted). -

- F.  MANDATORY .-PAC‘KAGE LICENSING'

: The prohibltzon “stated thatmandatorypackagel1censmgls anunlawful ;egtéﬁsion
of the patent grant. The justification is that it is mo?e efficient to allow parties to negotiate on a
-~ per patent basis rather than-forcing packages. This rule encourages a free market becayse
people will pay for what they want, leaving what they do ﬁ'ot want for someone who values it . :
more." This aids efficient allocation of resources. However, this is not-a world with perfect .
infohﬁati('m'-and'\zero'fransaction' costs. Package licensing allows a patentee to maximize the net
retli;;i ‘611 a portfolio of patents, given the restraint on the patentee’s limited knowledge |
con'(;eﬁling the value of the patéﬁts to different licensees, and the ease with whichitcan .. -
. -negt(;lt.iie’i‘te separate licenses for each patent; Profit from the package is limited to the maximum

_afnoﬁnt the patentée could extract lawfully iﬁ'the world of perfect information and Zero

 transaction éosts.
| — "Comp‘éllin‘g the licensing of patents not-desired-by the licensee as a condition for
receiving a"Iicéﬂse under desired patents, has been held to be an antitrust violation. Zenith . . .
Radio Cdrpfi:. Hazeltine Reséarch; Inc., 395 U.S. 100 (1969). Similarly, discriminatory . . .
royalties which economically cause the samie result have also been held illegal. Id; ¢f .-
Studiengesellséhaﬁ Kohle m.b.H. v. Northern Petrochemical, 225 U.S.P.Q. 194,197 (N.D. L.

1984), rev'd & remanded on ogher grqunds, 784 ¥.2d 351 (Fed. Cir.), cert. denied 478 U, S.
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1028 (1986) (plaintiffs’ offer to license patent separately from package of patents and .
applications including first patent at same royalty as the entire package held not to be misuse
where the royalty was no more than that charged for the first patent in a third party license).

“Trade is restrained, frequently in an unreasonable manner, when rights to use

individual patents or copyrights may be obtained only by paymeﬁf.lfbr.é package of such fightéQ -

- but the opportunity- to acquire a package of rights does not restrain trade if an alternative

“opportunity to aécjuire individual rights is fully a{railable.;’ Columbia Broadcasting Systems, .
| Inc., v. ASCAP; 620 F.2d 930, 935-36 (2d Cir. 1980), cert. denied, 450 U.S. 970, reh denied,
450 U.S. 105 '6-(1981) (percentage fee licensing of all copyrighted musica_l-compositipﬁs in ..
inventory of performing rights organization does not violate the rule of reason under §1.of the,
Sherman Act'since users may negotiate directly with copyright owners); see also. W_estér;g. R
Electric Co. v. Stewart-Warner Corp., 631 F.2d 333, 338-39 (4th Cir. 1980), cert. denied, 450
US.97 (1981) (no coercive package licensing; where no showing thét “Western did not -giye,.
[licensee] a choice to take a license under the Derick-Frosch patent alone 61'_ in combination
with other patents on reasonable terms.™)

 The Department of Justice has stated that it -no.longer believes that mandatory

package licensing is inherently unlawful. 'Package licensing allows the patentee to maximize .
~ the net return on its patent poﬁfolio. The DOJ has recognized that package licensing can be
efficient in that it avoids the necessity of costly individual negotiatiohs between the pmieé with

respect to each patent.. "~ L

G.  CONDITIONING LICENSE ON ROYALTIESNOT
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-~ -REASONABLY RELATED TO SALE OF PRODUCTS
COVERED BY THE PATENT

The proh1b1t1on had stated that itis unlawful fora patentee to 1nsrst asa

_ condltron of the hcense that a licénsee pay royaltles not reasonably related to the hcensee s

_sales of products covered by the licensed patent.

It is not per Se a misuse of patents to requrre a 11censee to pay royaltles based on

a percentage of its sales even though none of the patents are used Automatlc Rad:o Company '

2 Hazeltme 339U S 827 830-34, reh. demed 34OU S 846 (1950) “A patent empowers the

owner to exact royaltles as hlgh as he can negotlate w1th the leverage of that monopoly
Brulotte V. Thys 379U.8. 29, 33 (1964), reh. demed 379 U.S. 985 (1965) eremse a
patentee/hcensor is not requrred to renegotlate an exrstmg agreement to change the royalty a
scherne t'rom one based on the nght to use any of group of patents, to one based on royaltres for
each spec1ﬁed patent used Hull v. Brunswzck Corp 704 F. 2d 1 195 (lOth Clr 1983) “If the
mutual convemence or efﬁcleney of both the lrcensor and the llcensee results in a royalty base
which 1ncludes the licensee’s total sales or sales of nonpatented items, there can be no patent

misuse.” Magnavox Co.v. Mattell e, 216 U.SP.Q.28, 59(ND Tl 1982); but see

N Instrumenrs S.A. v. Amerzcan Holographlc Inc 57U.S. P Q. 2d 1852 (Mass Sup Ct 2000)

(agreement purportmg to require royalty payments on all dlffractlon gratmg devices mterpreted

to require royaltles only on products covered by licensor’s patents where the agreement did not

clearly state that the partres 1ntended to use a. percentage of the sales price of all deV1ces asa

measuring devrce for the value of the use of the patented technology).
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However, to use the leverage of a 'pate'nt'to proj ect ro'y'alty payments beyond the
 life of the patent has been held to be an 1llega1 enlargement of the patent grant. Brulotte 379

U.s. at 33 The Eleventh Clrcult also has employed a sunllar ratronale in strlkrng down a

hybrid agreement hcensmg patent rlghts and trade secrets where royalty obhgatrons remain =~

Vunchanged after patents explre as unenforceable beyond the date of expn:atlon of the patents o

Pztney Bowes, Inc V. Mestre 701 F 2d 1365 (llth C1r) cert. denzeal 464 U.S. 893 (1983)
_ A hcensor may collect royaltres on the manufacture of items based on

- confidential information that is within the scope of a patent application, even where the patent

.does not ultimately issue. In Aronson V. Quick Poim‘ Pencil Co. the Supreme Court upheld a

| contract prov1d1ng for the payment of royaltles in exchange for the r1ght to make or sell a

keyholder even though the patent on the keyholder was ultlmately rejected and the l1censed

conﬁdentlal 1nformat10n became publlc 440 U 3. 257 (1979) erevwse a manufacturer may

be obhged to pay royaltres under an agreernent 1nvolv1ng a patent apphcatlon even though the :

. scope of the 1ssued patent was narrower tha.n the orlgmal patent appllcatlon referred to in the
agreement. See Shackelton v.J Kauﬁnan Iron Works Inc., 689 F. 2d 334 (2d C1r 1982) cert.

; demed 460 U.s. 1052 (1983) However the Sixth and Seventh C1rcu1ts have held that the
Brulorte rule precludes enforcernent of license prov1$1ons extendlng beyond the statutory patent
grant perrod for an 1tem that was unpatented at the time the agreement was executed, if such '
hcense prov1s1ons were agreed to 1n antmpatton o'f. patent protectlon Boggzld v, Kenner -

' .Products 776 F.2d 1315 (6th Cir. 1985), cert demea’ 477 U.S. 908 (l 986), Meehan V. PPG

| Indus., Inc. 802 F.2d 881 (7th Cir. 1986), cert, demed 479U, 1091 (1987)
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A package license agreement which requires the constant payment of royalties
beyond the expiration of some of the patents until the expiraﬁon of the last patent has been
deemed valid if voluntarily entered into. Beckm.an Instruments Inc. v. Technical Development
Corp., 433 F.2d 55, 61 (Tth Cir. 1970), cert. denied, 401 U.S, 976 (1971); McCullough Tool
Co. v. Well Surveys, Inc., 343 F. 2d 381 (10th Cir. 1965), cert. denied, 383 U. S. 933, reh. -
denied, 384 U.S. 947, reh. denied, 385 U.S. 995(1966); Cohn'v.. Compax Corp., 220 U.S.P.Q.
11077, 1082 (N.Y. App. Div: 2d 1982)." | |

Discrimipatory licensing rates which impair competition, may constitute patent | '
misuse and an antitrust violation. See Laitram Corp. v. King Crab 1-’nc. ;245 F Supp. 1019 (D.-
Alaska 1965) (chargiq_g tWice as much to Jessees of patented shrimp peeling machines in the
Noithwest than to lessees in the Gulf of Mexico area because of the labor costs of the lessees in
_thg:j?Northwes’t, was held to constitute patent misuse where the Northwest canners sufferéd .
éo_rﬁpétiﬁvé injury); LaPeyre v. F.T.C;; 366 F:2d 117 (5th Cir. 1966) (same practi_ce-heid to be
an unfair method of competition in violation of Section 5 of the Federal Trade Commission
Act); Peelers Co: v. Wendt, 260 F. Supp. 193 (W.D. Wash. 1966) (same practice held to be a
violation of Section 2 of the Sherman Act). See also Allied Research Products, Inc. v. Heétbqth
Corp., 300 F. Supp. 656, 657-(N.D. 111, 1969) (patentee’s refusal to license its patented
techiology to Heatbath “solely because of a personal 'disputg,” altiwugh a license had
previously been granted to Heatbath’s competitor held to be patent misuse. The.court declared

that “Allied had no right to refuse a license to Heatbath as to [the prior licensee].”)




In a later case involving another shrimp peeling patent, a district court held thata -

_ uniform royalty rate based on .uncléaﬁed shrimp poundage was .ﬁot discriminatory, even though

licensees in the Northwest realized less shrimp after the cooking and cleaning process than.did.

- licensees in other régions. Laitrdm Corp. v. Depoe Bay Fish Co., 549 F. Supp. .29, 1983-1.

TradeCas(CCH) T65.268 (D, Ore.1082). =~

In:USM Corp. v. SPS Technologies, Inc., 694 F.2d 505, 513, cert. denied, 462 :

U.S. 1107 (1983), the court held that discriminatqry licensing '-ratés did not constitute patent

misuse where plaintif “made no effort to present-evidence of actual of probable anticompetitive

~effectina releVént market.” .. |
. - ‘The Seventh _Circﬂit has held that an agreement between a patent owner and
licensees to charge a company a substantially. higher royalty fora h'cénse than that being paid -

' by. other industry:members does not amount to-a per se violation of § 1.of the Sherman Act. -
Such an'\agreement should be tested under the rule.of reason: Hennessey Inds. Inc. v. FEMC o
Corp.; 779°F.2d 402 (7th Cir. 1985). |

‘Although the 1995 1P Guidelines are silent as to the royalty rates to be alloWed

'‘in patent licenses; prior 'D.OJ statements indicate that i‘; :wi-l_l consider the reasonableness of the
patentee’s choice of method for approximating the value of the liczense. paramount, not the -
aétual royalty paid on the sale of the patented item.. Sales may bé a reasonable methéc_l-‘in some |

 instances, but notin others. Where the patentée and libens_e_:e are horizontal competitors, a rule

of reason approach should be employed against the risk of unnecessary cartelization.

233




H. SALES RESTRICTIONS OF PRODUCTS MADE BY
' PROCESS PATENT

 Wilson’s proliibition'stated that it is unlawful for the owner of a process patent
to zitterript to piaee restrictions ‘oniits Iicensee._"s ‘saies of products made by the patented process,
since it enables the patentee to attain rnon()poly control over somethmg not necessarily subject
| to his control by virtue of the patent grant. -
A number of courts have analyzed the validity of restrictions on use of an
unpatented produet of a patented process. In the seminal case, United States v.
Studiengesellschaft Kohle, m.b.H,, the Court of Appeals for the D.C. Circuit held that a license
" 1o a process which permitted the licensee oﬁly to use the resulting product, but not sell it, was
valid, 670 F.2d 1122, 1130 (D.C. Cir. 1981).  ~ ~ =
" Tn Stzidiei’igese'llschaﬁ, Ziegler held a patenit on a process for making certain
' catalysts(whlch tlieiiiseIVes were useful to make piastics).' Ziegler licensed one manufacturer
' (Hméicules) toseilthecatalyst made from thie'pi'oeess i)ateiit. 'Zieglei' reciiiired other licensees to
restrict use of the catalyst solely to meet their own needs for making ;iiastic_s, and jﬁfdhibited
them from selling the catalyst on the open market. The court, using a rule of reason analysis,
held that this was a valid restriction beeause the Iiatentee'wa’s legally entitled to :grant an
_. exclusive lieeiise toa Single lilcensee ifhe s0 desireci, thereby .‘prohibiting any use of the process
by others. Id at 1131. Therefore, the patentee was not deemmed to have acteci “iinreasonabiy” .
uiider the antitrust laws since he had taken the less extreme step of licensing additional -
manufacturers, subject to the condition that the resultant pfeduct'be restricted to their ewn use.

Id. at 1131, 1135. In justifying this conclusion, the court stated that the licensor had no
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monopoly over the unpaténtéd product protiuéed by o:the.r 'pfocesées. 'Thé court stated that ade
facto monopoly of the product can continue only so long as its process remains “so superior to.
other processes that ‘[the_ pnpa_ten_téd p_r'orc_lug:__t] g;gde by thprs_e othe; processes cou_:ld‘not s;qmpgt_e |
' commercially. . ” d at 1129,
The same Zie'g"lézlz patents and licenses also_h_a& B'e'e'_'h'_' examined”in Ethyl Corp. v
Hercules Powder Co., 232 F. Supp. 453, 455-56 (D. Del._ 1?:63). In Ethyl Corp.,_ the district
court ruled that Ziegler could not convey an exclusive right to _st_:ll,__the.produ_ct of the patented
.prgce_ss_. The court explained that a process patentee “can restrict the use o_f his process_,__but_ he
~ cannot plaée controls on the sale of ur_lpéte_nted articles produced by the process.” Id. | Hovyeyer,
in a supplemental oph%ion, the court did state (somewhat semgntica!i){) that,. ?_ll_though the-
7 | patentee c9u1d not convey an exclusivg'ri_ght to sell t_hg catalyst -- which was unpatented -- it
could convey an exclusive license to use the péte_nted process to m_ake prod.uct_. for the purpose .
. of:sale. Thus, the patentee also coulc_l__preveﬁt_anpthgr_ licensee __from usi_ng thq process to make -
product for sale, Id. at 460. |
There has bper_l a _spl_i_t of auj:horityz‘in caselaw as to whether a_patgntee may limit:
the quantity of an unpatented pgoduct_prqdupe_d by a license unde; a process or machine p;a:te::_nt..
~ Compare Unfted_ Stqte; v.;Generql Elecrric Co., 82 F. Supp. 753, 814 ‘(I:).N.J . 1949), and |
 American Equipment Co. v. Tuthill, 69 F.2d 406 (7th Cir. 19%4_), with_Q:-szs, Inc. v. Johnson &
Johnson, 109°F. Supp. 657 (D.N.J. 1951), aff'd in part,‘mod_iﬁed i_n.pqrt, 207 F2d509 (3d Cir. |

1953), cert. denied, 347.U.S. 935 (1954).
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- An interesting question is whether restrictions in a license of a trade secret -
process should be treated any differently under the antitrust laws from a process patent license. -
- At least one case advises that the licensor of a trade secret process may restrict the use ofa

- product of that process as long as the restriction may be said to be ancillary to a commercially -

- “supportable licénsing arrangement, rather than a'sham set up for the purpose of controlling -~

competiti'on while avoiding the consequences of the antitrust laws. Christianson v. Colt Indus. .
Operating Corp., _766 F. Supp. 670, 689 (C.D. 1lL. 1991), quoting A. & E. Plastik Pak Co..v.
Monsanto Co., 396 F.2d 710, 715 (9th Cir. 1968). In determ’ining whether a licensing
arrangement is a sham, the court will examine the licensor’s secret process to determine the
extent of know-how or technology exclusively possessed by the licensor, and provided to the -
licensee, and whether the substance of such technology may .fai;ly be said to support ancillary -
_ restramts A& E. Plaétik Pak, 396 F.2d at715. Under the Christianson case, a party -
: challengmg such a license provision bears the burden of proving by clear-and convincing -
.evidence-that the arrangement isa sham, or that the licensor asserted its trade secrets with the
kndwledge that no trade secrets existed. If the challenger fails to carry this burden of proof,
theﬁ' the coutt should conclude that the actions of the licensor have a sufficient legal -
justification and are reasonably necessary to enforce the licensor’s.trade secrets. 76.6 F. Supp. .
at 689." a8 |

Similar to the owner of a process patent, the owner of a tpade secret- under
ordinary circumstances may grant an exclusive license without antitrust implications. See.

FrankM Denison, D.D S., Inc. v..-Westmore Dental Arts, P.C., 212 U.S.P.Q. 601, 603 (W.D. .

36




.Pa. 198 1.).-" However, unlike a patent licensor, the licensor of a trade secret is not relying upon
(and hence, not arguably improperly extending) a statutorily-based exclusivity, which
historically has been a concern of the antitrust laws. Thus, at least one commentator has- - .-
suggested that a licensor of a trade jsecret'procf:ss'may have somewhat greater latitude under the -

T antiWStflaws than a process patent licensor; " ROGER M MILGRIM; MILGRIM ON-TRADE - - -

SECRETS 10-175 (1998).

I. '~ PRICE RESTRICTIONS
* The prqhibition stated that it is unlawful for-a patenteé to require a licensee to ."
‘adhere to any. specified or minimum price with resiaect to the licensee’s sale of the iicensed.
product. Under the Sherman Act; a combination formed “for fhe. purpose and with the effect of
raising, depressing,’ -ﬁ;%ing,'pe’gging, or stabilizing the price of a commodity interstate or foreign
commerce is illegal per se.” United States v. Socony-Vacuum Oil; Co., 310 U.S. 150,223, reh.
deried, 310 U.S. 658 (1940); see also Kiefer-Stewart.Co. v..Joseph E Seagram & Sons, Inc., -
340 U.S. 211, reh. denied, 340 U.S: 939.(1 951-), overruled by Copperweld v. Independence
Tube Corp., 467 U. S. 752 (1984); and United States:v. Trenton Potteriés Co., 273 U.5.392 .
aen. '
Recently, the Supreme Court overruled a thirt&-year old precedent, and held that
vertically—ilnposéd maximum price restrictions should be analyzed under the rule of reason, and
are not a per se antitrust violation. State Qil Co. v. Khan, 522 U.8. 3,118 8. Ct. 275 (1997),

‘overruling Albrecht v. Herald Co., 390°U.S. 145/(1968). The Court explained that although
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minimum price restrictions would remainder per se illegal there was insufﬁcient economic
Justrﬁcatron for per se 1nva11dat10n of vertical maxrmum prlce ﬁxmg The Supreme Court

decision in Khan, and much of the per se treatment of prlce ﬁxmg, is outsrde the 1nte11ectual

mproperty context There is lrttle recent precedent analyzrng whether mtellectual property
* licenses should be analyzed;un_de_r drffe_rent standards than other agree_ments withregard toprice” ™

- restrictions.

The Supreme Court prevmusly has upheld the rrght of a patent owner to control

.the prlces at Wthh its hcensee may sell a patented product Umred States V. General Electrzc

Co, 272U.8. 476 ,(_19_26‘).

One of the valuable elements of the exclusive right of a patentee is to acquire profit by
the price of which the article is sold. The highier the price, the greater the profit, unless
~ itis prohibitory. When the patentee licenses another to make and vend, and retains the
right to continue to make and vend on his own account, the price of which his licensee
will sell will necessarily affect the price of which he can sell his own patented goods. It
‘ Would seem entirely reasonable that he should say to the licensee, “Yes; you may make
~and-sell articles under-my patent, but not so as to destroy the proﬁt that I wish to obtam
by making them and selling them myself.” o S

1d. at 490.

" The Supreme Court and lower courts have applied the General Electric case |

‘narrowly. The Supreme Court itself has explained that General Electric “gives no support-for a

patente'e, acting in concert with all members of an industry, to issue substantially identical ==
licenses to all members of the industry under the terms of which the industry is completely’

regimented, the production of competitive unpatented products suppressed, a class of

- distributors squeezed out, and prices on unpatented products stabilized.” United States v. United

States Gypsum Co., 333 U.S: 364, 400 (Frankfurter, J., concurring), reh denied 333 U.S. 869
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(1948) see also Barber-CoIman Co v. Naﬂonal Tool Co 136 F 2d 339 (6th Cir. 1943) (owner

ofa process patent could not by lrcense agreement lawfully control selhng prrce of unpatented
: artlcles produced by use of patented machme and process)

However the General Electrlc holdmg has not been overturned and has ”

maintained some vrtahty in the lower courts The D. C C1rcu1t thIe notmg that General |

Electric has “been seriously questloned and has survived twice only by the grace of an equally
.'d1v1ded court,” nonetheless recogmzed that it rernalns “the Verbal frame of reference for testing
the va11d1ty ofa l1cense restrrctron in many subsequent de0131ons. » StudzengeselIschaﬁ Kohle,
670 F.2d at 1131, cztmg United States v. Huck Mfg. Co., 382 U.S. 197 (1965), United States V.
Lme Materlal Co 333 U S 287 (1948) Both the Fourth Clrcu:tt and the Supreme Court have
_ employed the General Elecmc framework in upholdlng agreements challenged as 1llegal price-
ﬁxrng Duplan Corp v. Deermg lelzken, __444 F Supp 648 (D S C 1977) (agreement between
.patent owner and Ilcensmg agent as to amount of use. royalty to be pard by purchasers of
patented machine did not constitute illegal price-fixing), aff'd in part, rev'd in part, 594 F2d
979 (4th Cir, 1979), cert.. d_enied, 444 U.8, 1015 (1980); Broadcast Music, Inc. v. Columbia
Broadcasting Sys.; Inc.; 441 U.S. 1 (1979) (blanket licensing of flat fee of performance ri_ghts in
copyrighted-musieal eomposi_t_ions through‘ performin_g rights societies does not‘eons_titute pr_iee-
fixing per se). |
. Notwithstanding General Electric, the Justice Department has stated that it will -

-“enforce the per se rule against resale price maintenance in the intellectual property _pont_e_)_(trff: |

IP Guidelines, at 20,743-3. Although this pronouncement was prior to the Supreme Court
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- decision in Khan, given the longstanding existence of General Electric, there is a substantial

question whether Khan would change the DOJ view on this issue, at least outside the arena of

_maximum vertical resale price maintenance, .

V. ACOUISITION OF INTELLECTUAL I’ROPERTY
The acquisition and accu:mulatlon of patents have been analyzed under the

antttrust laws from two perspectlves -- patents acqulred by internal 1nvent10n, and patents

' acqun*ed from thlrd parties.

: | In general simply accumulatmg patents hy 1ntet‘na1 1nvent10n ddes not 1mp11cate.
the antltrust taws “The mere accumulatlon of patents 1o matter how many, is not in and of |
itself 111ega1 ” Automatzc Radzo Manufacturmg Co Inc V. Hazeltme Research Inc 339 U S.
827, 834 reh demed 340 U S. 846 (1950) Chtsholm-Ryder Co Inc V. Mecca Bros Inc
[1983 1] Trade Cas 65 406 at 70 406 (W.D.NY. 1982) By 1tse1f “[1]ntense research acttv1ty” .

is not condemned by the Sherman Act asa v1olat10n of § 1, nor are its consequences

condemned asa v101at10n of § 2 Umted Stares v. EI DuPont de Nemours & Co 118 F Supp '

41,216-17 (D Del 1953), aﬂ’d 351 U S 377 (1956), see also Umted States V. Umted Shoe |
Machmery Corp 110F Supp. 295 332 (D Mass 1953) aﬁ‘ d per curiam, 347U S.521 |

(1954) L1kew1se in SCM Corp V. Xerox Corp the contention that a large number of patents

was acqmred by defendant w1th a wrongful 1ntent was reJ ected by the Jury on the facts 463 F

_Supp 983 (D Conn 1978) remanded 599 F. 2d 32 (2d Cll‘ 1979) a ’d aﬁer remand 645 F 2d

1195 (2d Cn' 1981) cert demed 455 U S 1016 (1982) However where a monopohst Seeks
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new patents simply to block competitive products, without any intention to protect its own
products, the antitrust laws may be called into play.
- [Olnce a company had acquired monopoly power, it could not thereafter acquire Jawful
patent power if it obtained new patents on its own inventions primarily for the purpose
~ of blocking the development and marketing of competitive products rather than
‘primarily to protect its own products trom bemg 1m1tated or blocked by others

Id at 1007 See also GAF Corp 12 Eastman Kodak Co., 519 F Supp 1203 1235 (S D N Y.

© 1981), | - -

o The prohxbltlone of Seetlon 7 ot‘“the Cleyton Act, | agamet asset vaHISltlonS llker
to produce a substantlal lessemng of competltlon may be apphed to the acqu151t10n of patents ‘
Eg, SCMv Xerox Corp 645 F 2d 1195 (2d C1r 1951) cert. demed 455 U S 1016 (1982);
Automated Bldg Components Inc V. Truelme T russ Co 3 18 F. Supp 1252 (D Ore 197 O)
Dole Valve Co. v. Perfectzorz Bar Equzpment Inc 311 F. Supp 459 463 (N D Ill 1970)
Moreover an exclus1ve hcense can be the equwalent of an outrlght acqu1s1t10n for antttrust
purposes See Umted States V. Columbza chtures Corp 189 F Supp 153 (S D N Y 1960)
Unzted Sz‘ates 12 Lever Bros Co 216 F Supp 887 (S. D N Y 1963) However excluswe
hcenses are not per se 1llegal Benger Laboratorzes Ltd V. R K Laros Co., 209 F Supp 639

-_648 (E D. Pa. 1962), ajj‘d 317 F 2d 455 (3d C1r) cert. demed 375 U.S. 833 (1963) -

Whlle patent acqu131t1ons are not immune from the antltrust laws the analys1s
should focue .on the . naarket power that W1Il be eonferred by the petent t&lﬂﬂm to the marhet
p051t10n then occupled by the acqulrmg party.” SCM Corp V. Xerox C’orp 645 F Zd 1195

'1205 1208 (2d Cir. 1981) (empha31s in or1g1na1) cert demed 455 U S. 1016 (1982) Sectton 7

of the Clayton Act may proh1b1t an acqutsmon 1f the effect of such acqm31t10n may be
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substantially to lessen competition, or to tend to create a monopoly. Eastman Kodak Co. v.
Goodyear Tire & Rubber Co., 114 F.3d 1547 (Fed. Cir. 1997).

Though acquisitions of patents may be subjected to antitrust scrutiny, the mere

holding of a patent, lawfully acquired, ordinarily should not_..imp_licate the antitrust laws. The .

Second Circuit has explained that:

Where a company has acquired patents lawfully, it must be entitled to hold them free .
from the threat of antitrust liability for the seventeen years that the patent laws provide.
To hold otherwise would unduly trespass upon the policies that underlie the patent law
system. The restraint placed upon competition is temporarily limited by the term of the
patents, and must, in-deference to the patent system be tolerated throughout the duration
of the patent grants

645 F 2d at 1212

Although prlvate partles may brmg suit for Clayton Act vrolatlons they must allege a

cogmzable antttrust mjury Thus in Eastman Kodak, surnrnary judgment drsmlssmg a Clayton

At clarm was afﬁrmed since the mere acqmsrtlon and enforcement of a patent d1d not amount

to antitrust mJury “Goodyear alleges mJurles stemmmg from Eastman S enforcement of the

112 patent Goodyear however would have suffered these same injuries regardless of who

had acqulred and enforced the patent agamst 1t These mjurtes therefore d1d not occur by

" reason of’ that whlch made the acqulsmon allegedly antrcompetttlve ? 114 F 3d at 1558

The Justlce Department has stated that it wﬂl analyze acqursrtlons of mtellectual

property nghts by applymg a merger analys1s to outnght sales by an 1ntellectual property owner

_ and to licenses that preclude all other persons 1nelud1ng the hcensor from using the llcensed

1ntellectual property 1995 IP Gurdelmes at 20, 743 5to 20 744 (footnote omrtted) The

merger anaIy31s employed by the DOJ w111 be consustent with the pr1ncrples and standards
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articulated in the U.S. Department of Justice and Federal Trade Commission, Horizontal. : - .-

Merger Guidelines (April 2, 1992). Id.

VL REFUSALSTOLICENSE - P
Once a party is deemed a monopohst, busrness practlces that m1ght otherwrse

seem ordinary sometimes are subjected to-closer antitrust scrutiny.- One :such area concerns
'refusals.to hcense lntellectual property .In 11t1gat10n rnvolvrng the .computer mdustr)g .one
district court’ granted a prehrmnary 1njunct1on against Intel for allegedly vrolatrng 1ts
“afﬁrmatwe duties not to misuse its monopoly power and to compete in a manner. tarh1ch does
not unreasonably ot unfalrly harm competltlon ? Intergraph Corp v. Intel Corp 3 F Supp 2d
1255, 1277 (N D. Ala 1998) However the prehrmnary lnjunctron was vacated on appeal The
-Court of Appeals for the Federal C1rcu1t held that Intergraph had not proven a hkel]hood of |
' success on 1ts Sherman Act clanns 195 F 3d 1346 (Fed C1r 1999) B

| As stated in the dlstrrct court s fact ﬁndmgs Intergraph 1sa deveIoper of
computer~a1ded de51gmng and draftrng workstauons In the 199()'5 Intergraph began desrgmng
Workstat1ons whrch 1ncorporated Intel mlcroprocessors a:ud by the end of 1993 had ceased
_further development of its own “Cllpper m1croprocessor From 1993 to 1997 Intergraph
' ‘recelved conﬁdentlal 1nformatlon from Intel related to Intel’s mrcroprocessors subJ ect to
various conﬁdentrahty agreements In 1997 Intergraph began threatemng some Intel customers
wrth patent 1nfr1ngement, based in part on the use by those customers of Intel mrcroprocessors :

in thelr products, and Intergraph sued Intel for patent 1nfr1ngement Intel sought a llcense under
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the Intergraph patents, and also proposed licensing its own patents to Intergraph, Intergraph
declined the Intel proposal. Eventually, Intel invoked the provisions of the confidentiality =
agreements to terminate those agreements and demand return of its confidential information.

Intergraph then asserted an antitrust claim against Intel for its refusal to supply it with .

coﬁdential inforniation. Inté;grélph mbved for aprehmmary 1njunct10n trc_r)r ;ﬁref}ént Int,étl" 7fr_om”
refusing to engage in business with Intergraph in a manner similar to that existing between
1993 and the commencement of the parties’ disputes. On April 10, 1998, the district court
granted the preliminary injunction. On Nov:ember 5, 1999, the Feder_ai Circuit vaggted_ that. .
.rinjunction. -
The district court found that Intel had monopo_ly power in both the microprocessor
market and in the separate mafket for Inte] microprocessoré. It féund that Intergraph was . .
' _%f_%ockec.l,in”_to Intel’s microprocessors and technical information. -3 I, Supp.2d at 1275-76.
The court then.explained'that: a |
Evenr conduct by a ' monopolist that is otherwise lawful may violate the antitfust laws
where it has anticompetitive effects. Image Technical Services, Inc. v. Eastman Kodak
- Co., 125 F.3d 1195, 1207.(9th Cir. 1997).... [TThe court concludes that Intel has violated
~ its affirmative duties not to misuse its monopoly power and to compete in a manner
"= which does not unreasonably or unfairly harm competition.
- Id.at 1277. |
| - The court stated that Intel’s attempt to “coerce Intergraph into relinquishing its.
.intellectual properfy. rights as a condition of Intel permitting ;Inte_rgraph to continue asa .

competitor inthe high-end graphics workstation market” and its alleged inducement for

Intergraph to discontinue its Clipper microprocessor development evidenced Intel’s “willful -

‘
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acquisition or maintenance of monopoly power,” in violation of Section 2 of the Sherman Act.
Id at 1276-77. In its decision, the district-court also concluded that “Intel is an actual and -
serious competitor of Intergraph® and that Intel had “conspir[ed] with Intergraph’s competitors

to take away Intergraph’s customers.” The court therefore found Intergraph likely to succeed -

under Section‘ 1of th‘éw éh'ermén Act, whiéh prohibits a “coh&act,‘ c:ombi;lhe-x-’-t“io.:;im) w01 conspiracy.;
in restraint of trade or commerce. .. Id. at 1280-81. -
© . “The district court also found Intergraph likely to prevail-on one or more of the:

' follovﬁng “established theories” o.f liability under Section 2 of the Sherman Act: (1) unlawful -
refusal to deal and denial of access to eséential facilities; (2} unlawful monopoly leveraging; (3)
unlawful coercive réciprOéity;‘ (4) use of patented technology to restrain trade; and (5)
retaliatory énforcement of non-disclosure agreements. Jd. at 1277-80. Among the more = .

. interéSting issues raised by the Jntergraph decision is its analysis rof Intel’s *‘réﬁlsal to deal” -
with Intergraph. | .

On appeal, the Fc_—*:de’ral Circuit held that none of these theories were supported by

' Sufﬁcis;nt evidence of an anfitruéf violati_'cn:a. :F irst, the cﬁurt r¢j eéted .ﬂ‘lé ;10tion th'at_ in.t:ergraph
and I.ntel competed in a market in wh1ch .’[lntel'hada: monop.c;lﬂy.; Sincé Inte.rgfaph. potentially

'competed with Intel onljf in the graphics subsystems market, in which it admitted that Intel did

:nOt have monopoly pOWer, the court ruled that Intel’s conduct with respect to Intergfaph “does
not constitute the offense of monopolization or the threat thereof in any market relevant to -
competition with Intergraph. - The Sherman Act is a law in the public; not private, interest.” - -

195 F.3d at 1356,
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Among the more interesting issues raised by the Infergraph decision is its
analysis of Intel’s “refusal to deal” with Intergraph,. Prior to the Federal Ci_rcui_t_’_s_decision in .
Intergraph, several courts had examined the potential limits on a refusal fo lic_en_§¢ intellectual

property. A patent owner’s refusal to license its patents ordinarily raises no antitrust scrutiny.

However, the circuit courts have held somewhat differing views on the absolute -ﬁr'rjits_of a -

patentee’s discretion in refusing to license others. At least one appellate court has explained,
without qualification, that a patent owner “cannot be held liable under Section 2 [of the .

: Sherman Act] . .. . by refusing to license the patent to others.” Miller Insituform, Inc.v. ..

- Insituform of North America, 830 F.2d 606 (6th Cir. 1987); see also Simpson v. Union Oil Co.,
<377 U.S. 13,24 (1964) (*The patent laws which give a 17-ycar rﬁonopoly on ‘maki_ﬁg, using, or
~gelling the invention’ are in pari materia with the antitrust laws and mociify them pro tanto.”);
e also Schiafly v. Caro-Kann Corp., 1998 U.S. App. LEXIS 8230, at *19 (Fed. Cir. A_pr.E 28,
+1998) (unpub.) (“a patentee may lawfully refuse to issue licenses af all.”). - The Ninth Circuit )

~has promulgated a rule whereby a monopolist’s otherwise unlawful refusal to deal
;3re'sumptively is justified where the refusal to deal involves patented or copyrighted
technology. See Image Technical Services Inc. v. Eastman Kodak Co., 125 :F.3d 1195, 1218

- (9th Cir. 1997). |

. Kodak’s contention that its refusal to sell its parts . ... was based on its reluctance to sell

its patented or copyrighted parts was a presumptlvely legitimate business justification.
Kodak may assert that its desire to profit from its inteliectual property rights justifies its

conduct, and the jury should presume that this Justlﬁcatlon is legmmately
- -procompetlt:lve : : a _
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Id. at 1219 (citation omitted). According to the Ninth Circuit, the presumption can be rebutted,
such as by evidence that the intellectual property was acquired unlawfully, or evidence that the -
desire to profit from its iﬁte’llect’ual property was a mere pretext. Jd. -

* At least one subsequent district court decision refused to follow the Ninth - -

Circuit’s institution of a rebuttable presumption of legitimacy, and instead concluded that

“where a patent or copyright has been lawfully acquired, subsequent conduct permissible under
the pétentbf copyright laws cannot give rise to any liability under the antitrust laws.” Inre...
| .Independent Sve. Orgs. Antitrust Litigation, 989 F. Supp. 1131, 1134 (D. Kan.), appectl denied,
129 F.3d 132 (Fed. Cir. 1997). In that case, the court f:'ollotved the Miller line of cases,. and " -
affirmed that “a patent holder’s unilziterél-ref:isal to sell or license its patented invention does .-
not constitute unlawful exclusionary conduct under the antitrust laws even if the refusal impacts
cempetitie_ri in more than one relevant antitrust market” Id. at 1138. The court applied-a
“similaf rule to'a refusal o sell or license copyrighted properties. - /d. at 1142-44. - - |
“Although the district court in Intergraph appeared to accet)t‘ that Intel’s .-~
information was proprietary :inte'llectual property, in its discussion of Intel’s refusal to deal the .
- coutrt did not directly address the Miller line of cases, nor the rebuttable presumption of
business justification set.forth in Image Technical Services. The Federal Circuit.relied on both
| Millér émd Image Technical 'Sefvices in 'vacating the injunction. The court noted that .“the
antltrlstst laws. do not negate the Ieateﬁtee . S rlght to e)tclude others front patent protaerty
_' Intergraph, at 1362 After chastlsmg the dlstrlct court for citing Image T echmcal Servzces

without recognizing its rebuttable presumption of business justification in refusing to license

47




intellectual property, the Federal Circuit agreed with the Jmage Technical Services court that it
could find “no reported case in which a court had imposed antitrust liability for a refusal to sell
or license a patent or copyright.” Id.; quoting Image Technical Services, 125 F.3d at 1216. Of

coﬁrée; an anititrust violation was found in 'Iﬁz'a'gé-'i-T echnical Services itself when the court ruled

that fhe piésuinpﬁo’ri ofvahd ‘business Jusnﬁcatlonhad been rebutted. - The Federal Circuit then

stated that “the owner of prdprie;afy information has no obligation to provide it, whetherto a
competitor, customer, or supplier.” Id. at 1363. The court found the district court’s conclusion
on this issue “devoid of evidence or elaboration or authority.” d. * Since there was no
éntico'mpetitivé aspect fo: Intel’s refusal to license Intergraph, given the absence of significant
compeﬁtipn betw’eeh them, the court ruled that.there was 1o antitrust violation. Jd:

" The disttict court also had premised its ruling on the “essential facilities” -

dOCtrini_:::.;;The district court ruled that Tntel’s proprietary information is an essential facility that
Tntel could not withhold from Intergraph without violation of the Sherman Act. As set forth in-
MCI Comm?m't‘catiohs Co. v. American Tel. & Tel., “the antitrust laws have imposed on ﬁrﬁs-
controlling an essential facility the obligation to make the facility available on non-
discriminatory terms.” 708 F.2d 1081, 1132 (7th Cir.), cert. denied, 464 U.S. 891 (1983). The
_ MCI court identiﬁed four elements for liability under the essential faci_lities doctrine: -

M control of the essential facility by a monopolist; (2) a competitor’s inability

practically or reasenably to duplicate the essential facility; (3) the denial of the use of

~ the facility to a competitor; and (4) the feasibi_lity of providing the facility.

Id. at1132-33. -
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- ~However, at least one subsequent court has stated that the essential facilities .
- doctrine is inapplicable where the defendant is not a monopolist in a market in whichit -
competes with the plaintiff. -See Ad-Vantage Tel. Directory Consultants v. GTE Directories -

Corp., 849 F.2d.1336,1348 (11th Cir. 1987) (rejecting Sherman Act essential facilities claim

~ defendant did not have monopoly power in market where it did compete with plaintiff). In
Intergraph, the Federal Circuit followed this line of .reasoﬁing, stating that “the essential facility
theory doees not depart from the need for a competitive relationship. in order to inpurShen_nz_m .
Act:_iiability and remedy.” Intergraph, 1 .95 F.3d at 1356. The court explained that no court had
téken the essential facility doctrine “beyond the situation of competition with._the.c_ontro_ller:qf o
the facility. ... [T]here must-be a market in _v_vhich plaintiff and defendant compete, such that a
monopolist extends its monopoly to the downstream market by refusing access to.tl__le.facility_it_
controls.” Id;-'at 1357. - Thus, under the /ntergraph ruling, and also taking the rules of Miller ;_
and Ad- Véntdge_together, a monopolist should be free to refuse to license its proprietary
intellectual property to another, even if the intellectual property qualifies as an “essential
facility,l” so long as the potential licensee does not compete with the licensor in the market in
| which the licensor is-a monopolist. - |

-+ -The Federal Circuit also found Intergraph’s use qf an alternative “refusal to
deé ” filéory unavaxllng | T-he court noted th.atl- a II'GIﬁ.J.S&:l_‘t.O deaﬁ may :_ra_is'e éx_it_itrfﬁst _cohcérns if it

is “directed against competition and the purpose is to create, maintain, or enlarge a monopoly.’

Id. at 1358. However, since Intel did not compete with Intergraph, there was no need for it to
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establish a business justification for its actions. Id.- Moreover, the iaatent infringement lawsuit ;
filed by Intergraph provided valid grounds for Intel to terminate relations with Intergraph. “The
bringing of a lawsuit may provide a sound business reason for [a] manufacturer to terminate []
relations” With'é'ciiSt()r_ﬁer. Id.; quoting House of Materials, Inc. v Simplicity Pattern'C‘o. , 298"
The Federal Circuit rejected Intergraph’s remaining antitrust theories, primarily
on the‘ ground that the absence of competition by Intergraph in the microprocessor market
precluded Sherman Act liability for Intél’s conduct toward it. “Although undoubtedly judges
would create a kinder and gentler world of commerce, it is inappropriate to placé the judicial
thumb on the scale of business disputes in order to rebalance the risk from that assumed by the
parties:7>1d. at 1364.7 |
In'In re Independent Service Organizations Antitrust Litigation, 203 F.3d 1322
(F ed.;;_Qir;,QOOO),.-cert. deniéd, 2001 U.S. LEXIS 1102 (Feb. 20, 2001), the Federal Circuit

reiterated that a refusal to sell or license patented technology cannot give rise to antitrust

7 During the pendency of the appeal from the preliminary injunction, Intel settled
an administrative action brought by the Federal Trade Commission against it which was based, in
part, on Intel’s dealings with Intergraph. In the Consent Agreement, entered March 17, 1999,
Intel agreed for a period of ten years not to withdraw or refuse access to certain technical
information for reasons related to an intellectual property dispute, if at the time of the dispute the
customer is receiving such information from Intel. Intel is permitted to withhold information
specific to any Intel microprocessor that the customer has asserted is infringing its patent,
copyright or trade secret rights, unless the customer agrees not to seek an injunction for the
asserted infringement. The Consent Agreement does not constitute any admission by Intel that it
violated any law. See www.fic gov/os/1999/9903/d09288intelagreement. htm The Federal
Circuit’s decision simply noted that the proceeding resultmg in the Consent Agreement “is not
before us.” Sllp op. at 36, n.3. :
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liability absent “illegal tying, fraud in the Patent and Trademark Office, or sham litigation.”
‘Unless a patent infringement suit is-obj ectively baseless, the patentee’s subjective motivation in

exerting statutory rights is irrelevant. See also Sheet Metal Duct Inc. v. Lindab Inc. , 95

" U.S.P.Q.2d'1480, '148'51'('E.'D'.'Pa_..‘ 2000) (patent holder is-permitted to-maintain its monopoly. .. .- - ..

~over a patented product by refusing to license; or to deal only with-those with-whom:it pleasesy.-— . ... .|

VII. HATCH-WAXMAN ISSUES -
| " The complex -inte‘raetions between phaﬁnaceuticalipatent owners and generic . -

drug companies sometimes touch on the antitrust laws. Not infrequently, a generic company

: will challenge a pha’rmaceﬁtical patent, and seek FDA approval to market a generic version of
the.patented product prior to Vpatent e'xpiration; In such instances, the patent owner may bring a
suit for infringemient under 35 U.S.C. § 271(e)(2) , notwithstanding the fact that FDA approval

- has not been granted and the product is not on the r_na;rket.. It has been reported that in some
instances, the patent owner and generic company have settled such infringefn_ent litigationon - -
terms including a promise by the generic company not to market i’es product for a certain time
‘and a promise by the patent owner to pay the generie_cempany a sum of money Such |
aﬁeﬁgements éréj_ a.t__is_.sue_:'i‘n' éeVe?di FTC 1nvest1gat10ns,aswellas p_rivete eﬁltiti'uet Iitigat__ibn. o
_' One._eoﬁrjp has held .tha_t_ an agree_itnen_ti between a 'generie dmg_eempany and a - _.

.pham.leceutical'pa’.te_ﬂt owner,mwhlch tﬁe 'g.ener_ie'cor;iﬁapy egfeed_eot_tb market its pre_.du'c_t; for
a period of tlmels per selllegal 1_ir_1_c1er ‘Seeﬁ_qn__l.__pf the Sherma:x_i'Act.: Inre: Cardzzem CD

 Antitrust Litigation, 105 F. Supp. 2d 682 (E.D. Mich. 2000). The court characterized the
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agreement as placing three restraints on Andrx, the generic company: (1) it restrained it from °
marketing its generic version of Cardizem CD in July 1998 when FDA approval was expected

and obtained; (2) it restrained Andrx from marketing other generic versions of Cardizem CD

~ not at issue iﬁ"thé";ié.féﬁt' ili‘cigi!ttidrl,""iﬁc’h’idim‘-:,v a reformulated product it hiad developed;.and (3) it~

‘restrained Andrx from felifiquishing of compromising its 180-day Hatch-Waxman-exclusivity— -

against other generic drug companies. /d. at 697. By the time the agreem.ent terminated, Andrx .
had been paid almost $90 million dollars by the patent owner, Héechst Marion Roussel Inc. 7d.
at 689. The court ruled that the agreement was an agreement between horizontal competitors to-
ailocate the United States market for Cardizem CD, and thus was per se illegal. 7d. at 699. The
court rejected various argiments from the defendants that the agreemént was in fact pro-
competitive, stating that the plain terms of the agreement belied such-contentions. - Id. at 703.

-+ +:[T]he clear and unambiguous terms of the Agreement indicate that its main thrust was to
: have Andrx refrain from going to market with its generic version of Cardizem CD
“zi*beyond the July'8, 1998 date when it could have entered the market, and to have Andrx -
continue the prosecution of its ANDA (the alleged infringing act) and not otherwise
compromise its right to the 180-day exclusivity period (which would delay the entry by
others with generic versions of Cardizem CD because, under the scheme of the Hatch-
Waxman Amendments, these potential generic competitors would be forced to wait out
this exclusivity period before obtaining FDA approval), and to have HMRI pay Andrx
tens of millions of dollars as long-as Andrx complied. The HMRI/Andrx Agreement, on
~ its face, allocates the entire U.S. market for Cardizem CD and its bioequivalents to
“HMRI for the life of the Agreement.  Accordingly, this Court concludes that it is a
naked horizontal market allocation agreement and thus constitutes a restraint of trade
that is illegal per se under section 1 of the Sherman Antitrust Act and under the various .
~ state antitrust laws at issue here. '

1d. at 705-06.
A similar result was reached in In re Terazosin Hydrochloride Antitrust
Litigation, 164 F. Supp. 1340 (S.D. Fla. 2000). In that case, the court ruled that agreements
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‘between Abbott Laboratories and two generic drug companies were a per se violation of the

Sherman Act. The court characterized the agreements as ones in which the generic companies

“forswore competing with Abbott in the United States market for terazosin hydrochloride drugs .

~and-promised-to take steps to forestall others from entering that market for the life of their ..

- respeetive-agreements-in exchange for-millions.of dollars in monthly. orquarterly payments.”.. ... .

Id . at 1348-49. The court termed the agreements a “classic example” of a territorial allocation

* undertaken to minimize competition.. Id. at 1349, citing United States v. Topco Assocs., I_ne.',:_ .

~ 405'U.5. 596, 608 (1972).

- - Another district court refused to dismiss a suit brought by a generic. -
manufacturer which alleged that a settlement agreement between another generic company and

a branded company violated the Sherman Act.- Biovail Corp..v. Mylan Laboratories, Inc., 2002

- US. Dlst LEXIS 6726 (N D. W Va. Mar 22, 2002) The court ruled that a sufficient aliegation

VIII BAD FAITH LITIGATION

Generally, conduct Wthh tends to restraln competition unlawfully in an.

- appropnately deﬁned relevant market const1tutes an antitrust v1olat10n Bad faith 1n 1n1t1at1ng a

lawsuit is con51dered such conduct and thus has been recogmzed as a defense to- patent
infringement causes of action. However, an infringement suit initiated witheut bad faith does

not violate the Sherman Act because there is a presumption of patent vahdity Handgards Inc

. Ethzcon Inc 601 F 2d 986 (9th Clr 1979) cert. denzed 444 US. 1025 (1980) and 743 F.2d
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1282 (1984), cert. denied, 469 U.S. 1190 (1985) establishes that an infringement suit is

presumptively in good faith. See also C.R. Bard Inc. v. M3 Sys. Inc., 157 F.3d 1340, 1369

(Fed. Cir. 1998), cert. denied, 119 S. Ct. 1804 (1999). This presumption can only be rebutted
by clear and convincing evidence that the patéﬂtee acted in bad faith in.enforcing the patent .
~ because he knew the patent was invalid. " See Argiss Chem. Corp. v. F ibre Glass-Evercoat Co., =~

- Inc., 812 F.2d 1381, 1385-86 (Fed. Cir. 1987) (preetriai correspondence containing allegations

by an accused infringer that the patent is invalid cannot be turned into-evidence that the -
patentee knew the patent was invalid when _-it instituted an infringement suit). '

- A defendant in a patent inﬁ'ingement action must prove three eleménts to
establish a'§ 2 Sherman Act violation: (1) by clear and convincing evidehce that patent suit was
pursued-in'bad faith; (2) that plaintiff had *spec_iﬁ'c intent to monopolize the relevant market; and

(3) that a dangerous probability of success existed. Argus Chem. Corp. v. Fibre Glass-

- ---Evercdiltf""645--F. Supp.-15(C.D. Cal. 1986), aff’d, 812 F.2d 1381 (Fed. Cir..1987). .

IX. FRAUD ON THE PATENT OFFICE

The Supreme Coutt, in Walker Process Equipment, Inc. v. Food Machinery &

Chemical Corp., 382 U.8. 172 (1965), held that the maintenance and enforcement of a patent

- procured by fraud on the Patent Office may be grounds for an action for monopolization or

attempted monopolization under § 2 of'the Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C. § 2. The Court

distinguished “intentional fraud,” which is(,actionable,‘ from mere “technical fraud,” which the
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Court described as an “honest mistake” as to the effect on patentability of withheld information,

- Idat177. -

- In Brunswick Corp. v. Riegel Textile Corp., 752 F.2d 261, 265 (7th Cir. 1984), . -

cert. denied, 472'U.'S.1018:(1985), Judge Posner stated that getting a patent by means ofa - .

explained that three conditions must be satisfied besides proof that the defendant obtaineda -

patent by fraud:

a.

“The -pétent must dominate a real market. See.American Hoist & Derrick -
- Co., 725 F.2d 1350 (Fed. Cir.), cert. denied, 469 U.S. 821 (1984).
Although the Patent Office does not require that an invention have . .
- commercial value, only apparentutility, the patent must have a -

- significant in’iﬁact in thé-marketplace;in order to have any anti-trust.

- significance.

The invention sought to be patented must not be patentable. Plaintiff

must show that “but for” the fraud, no patent would have issued to

" anyone.
©+ The patent must have some colorable validity, conferred, for example, by
" “‘the patentec’s efforts to enforce it by bringing patent infringement sui_t.s.:__.
' The fact that a patent has some apparent validity by virtue.of being

issued is insufficient. ..~

55




o ”-.“‘\\

In Argus Chemzcal Corp. v. Fi Ibre Glass-Evercoat Co., Inc., 812 F. 2d 1381,
1384 (Fed Cll‘ 1987) the Federal Circuit refused to extend the fraud standard under Walker

Process to conduct that is 1nequ1tab1e The Court rehed on 1ts decrslon in Amerzcan Ho ist & '

. Derr-ick Co., supra, and the Ninth..Circuit case, Agricultural Equip., Inc. V. Orchard_—Rite Ltd.,

592 F.2d 1096.(9th.Cir. 1979), in holding that under Walker Process, “knowing and Wﬂlful e

patent fraud is required to establish a violation of §2 of the Sherman Act based on the use of an
mvalld patent to monopohze a segment of the market ” Id at 1385 (quotmg A grzcultural
Equzp Inc 592 F 2d at 1103 04)
Patent mlsuse alone does not constitute a Walker Process V1olat1on. Amerlcan .‘
Hozst & Derrlck, 725 F 2d at 1367 The trad1t1ona1 Sherman Act elements must also be o
estabhshed ( 1) an analys1s of the relevant market and (2) an exammatlon of the exclusmnary |
power of the 1llega1 patent cla:un Walker Process, 3 82 U S at 177 Amerzcan Hoist &
Derrzclq 725 F. 2d at 1366
In Nobelpharma AB v. Implant Innovations, Inc., 141 F.3d 1059 (Fed. Cir. .
1998), the Federal Circuit upheld a jury verdict awarding antitrust damages for a Walker
Process-type claim. The court explained the analysis as follows:
~[I3f the evidence shows that the asserted patent was acquired by means of either a
fraudulent misrepresentation or a fraudulent omission and that the party asserting the
. patent was aware of the frand when bringing suit, such conduct can expose a patentee to
liability under the antitrust laws.... Such a misrepresentation or omission must evidence
a clear intent to deceive the examiner and thereby cause the PTO to grant an invalid
~ patent.... In contrast, a conclusion of inequitable conduct may be based on evidence of a
lesser misrepresentation or an omission, such as omission of a reference that would

merely have been considered important to the patentability of a claim by a reasonable
examiner. '
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Id. at 1070. The court further explained that a Walker Process claim “must be based on
independent and clear evidence of deceptive intent together with a clear showing of reliance,
e, that the patent would not have issued but for the misrepresentation or omission.” Id. at

1071.

The enforcement or assertton of the patent is an eIement necessauy to estabhsh .

Walker Process antltrust llablhty K- Lath 12 Davzs Wzre Corp, 15 F Supp 2d 952 (C D. Cal..
1998); see also Calzforma Eastern Labs. v. Gould 896 F.2d 400 403 (9th C1r 1990) Where
the patentee has not threatened an mﬁmgement claim, such that there is no Jurlsdlctlon for an
action seeklng a declaratxon of 1nva11d1ty or unenfotceabﬂu).r; d1sntlssal dnder Fed R C1v P
' 12(b)(6) of a Walker Process clalm is warranted K Lath 15 F Supp Zd at 963 64 .

If an alleged 1nfr1nger is successful in rnakmg out a Walker Process clalm,r it ean
TECOVer tret)le the damages sustained by it, ‘and the cost of the su.1t‘ 1nclud1ng re.aeetlabte o

attorney’s fees. Walker Process, 382 U.S.at178. - -
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X. LITIGATION RELATED ISSUES
“A. - JURISDICTION OF THE FEDERAL CIRCUIT

- 1. Patent Misuse Issues

 The Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit (CAFC) has exclusive jurisdiction

~onall patent issues pirsuant to 28 U S:C: §1295 and will be-bound by-its prior-decisions and -
those of the Court of Customs and Patent Appeals (CCPA).

2. Antitrust Issues

The CAFC has exclusive jurisdiction over any complaint involving an antitrust. -

- claim and a non-trivial claim arising under the patent laws. The CAFC will apply the law of the’
originating circuit to antitrust claims over which it has jurisdiction because-of the existence of -
nori'-triy;l:ql_‘__pa:tenf claims. Nonetheless, even in such instances, the Federal Circuit will apply its

own law to “resolve issues that clearly involve our exclusive jurisdiction.” Nobelpharma ABv.

' Implanf_fnnovat;’ons,: Inc. 141 F.3d 1059, 1067 (Fed.  Cir. 1998) (applying Federal Circuit law

to question of “whether conduct in the prosecution of a patent is sufficient to strip a patentee of
-its immunity from the aﬁtitrust laws™). Regional circuit law applies only to such issuesas ..
relevant market, market power, daniages, etc., which are not unique to patent law. 7d. at 1068.
Confusion had existed regarding which circuit has jurisdiction to resolvean -
* antitrust claim under the Sherman Act where the patent laws provide the answers to the = -
determinative issues. In one case, the Sevénth Circuit and CAFC claimed they lacked -
' jurisdictidn. The Supreme Court settled the jurisdictional dispute by holding that the Seventh

- Circuit was the proper forum in such a case. Christenson v. Colt Indus. Operating Corp., 798
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F.2d 1051 (7th Cir. 1986), 822 F.2d 1544 (Fed. Cir.), cert. granted, 484 U.S. 985 (1987),
vacated, 486 U.S. 800 (1988); see alsoCygnus Therapeutic Sys. v. Alza Corp., 92 F.3d 1153,

1161 (Fed. Cir. 1996); Loctite v. Ultraseal Ltd., 781 F.2d 861, 871 (Fe_d.; Cir. 1985).

U\\,

cocei-Bet o NOERR-PENNINGTON.IMMUNITY AND. PATENT LITIGATION
In the antitrust context, even though an actor’s conduct is allegedly anti-
competitive, the Noerr-Pennington doctrine has traditionally conferred antitrust immunity on

such conduct - when it involves the petitioning of a branch of the federal government. See

| Eastern R.R. Presidents Conference v. Noerr Motor Freight, Ipc.; 365:U.8, 127 (1961); Uni;ed _

Mine Workers v. Pennington, 381 U.S. 657 (1965). This petitioning right has been held to. -

include the right to.petition the federal courts via a lawsuit that is not considered to be *sham”

litigation. -Cdlifomia Motor Transport Co. v. Trucking Unlimited, 404 U.S. 508 (1972). In .

Professional Real Estate Investors, Inc. v. Columbia Pictures Industries, Inc., 508 U.S. 49
(1993), the Supreme Court articulated a definitive standard for what constitutes “sham”
litigation.: - -

.- In Professional Real Estate, several large motion picture studios sued a hotel .

3

owner for copyright infringement based on the fact that the hotel rented copyrighted videodiscs

- to its guests for viewing on in-room videodisc players. The hotel owner filed an antitrust
counterclaim alleging that this lawsuit was instituted only to restrain trade and was sham

litigation. .Jd.'at 52.. In affirming the grant of summary judgment for the hotel owner on the. .
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copyright claim and for the motion picture studios on the antitrust counterclaim, the. Supreme .
Court defined sham litigation employing the following two-part test: .

. First, the lawsuit must be objectively baseless in the sense that no reasonable litigant
could realistically expect success on the merits. If an objective litigant could conclude

" that the suit is reasonably calculated to elicit a favorable outcome,... [then] an antitrust.
claim premised on the sham exception must fail. Only if challenged litigation is

" objectively meritless may a court examine the litigant’s subjective motivation. Under.. . - .

this second part of our definition of sham, the court should focus on whether the
-~ baseless lawsuit conceal_s “an attempt to-interfere directly with the business relationships
of a competitor” ' '
| Id at 60 61 (footnote omltted) (ﬁrst empha31s added) (quotmg Eastern RR Preszdents
Conference V. Noerr Motor Frezght Inc., 365 U.s. 127 144 (1961)) Thus in artlculatmg its
deﬁmtton of sham 11t1gat10n the Court has created a high hurdle in order for the antitrust
clmmaht to overoome the Noerr-Penmngton 1mrt1un1ty |
| Perhaps the most 1ntr1gu1ng aspect of the Professzonal Real Estate dectswn as 1t
. retates tor patent httgatlon is the Court S comment that it* need not demde here whether and, if
s0, to what e;ctent Noerr perrmts the 1mposzt10n of antitrust ltahiitty for a 1itig'aﬁt55 fraudor
other trustepresentatlons Id at 61 n.6 (c1t1ng Walker Process Equzpment Inc. v. Food
Machmery & Chemlcal Corp 3 82 U.S. 172 176- 77 (1965)) Because the Court did not
expllcltly apply its analysis to cases mvolvmg fraud or m1srepresentat10n the appllcabﬂlty of
the two-part sham 11t1gat1on test to Handgards and Walker Process claims remain open issues
in the Supreme Court, ‘However, because Handgards claims have been exphcltly analyzed in
the past as sham exceptiohs to Noerr-Pennington immumty, see Handgards Inc. . Ethicon

Inc 743 F. 2d 1282 1294 (9th C1r 1984) (“We beheve that Handgards I estabhshed a standard

that embodles both the Noerr—Penmngton 1mmun1ty and the sharn exceptlon ”) cert. demed
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469 U.S. 1190 (1985), it appears that the two-part sham litigation test of PRE may apply to - -
Handgards claims. See, e.g., Bio-Technology General Corp.v. Genentech, Inc.,;267 F.3d.1325,
1333 (Fed Cu' 2001) Novo Nordzskof North Amerzca Inc v, Genentech, Inc 885 F. Supp

©522,526 (S D N Y 1995) see also C R Bard Inc A M3 Sys Inc 157 F 3d 1340 (Fed Clr

""""1998) cert demed 119 S Ct 1804 (1999)

" The applicability of the two-part she.m 11t1gat10n test to Walker érocees clerms is
perhaps less ctear._ Pr_1_o_r to Proﬁ_as.s_'zqr_;ql Reql Est_ate, qurr-Penm_nthn rmrnumty and Walker
Proc_es__s claims were two :distihct_d(__)etrines whieh Were ahalyz_ed in separate co.ntexte.. Aﬂer N
twice declining__ to deeide the isstte, the .Feder_ali Clrcult _ﬁow has ruled that the sharn lltlgatlon |
test does not apply to Walker Process. clatrhs. Nob_elphqrmct ABv. .‘Implqrrt ffrnovetiehs; Irtc., |
‘141 F.3d 1059 (Fed. Cir. 1998). S

The “objectively bla.seless stantler(t of the PRE test hes not heen easy to meet in
: the Federal Circuit.. In both lemtec Corp V. Hydranautlcs 67 F. 3d 931 939 n.2 (Fed Clr |
. 1995), cert. demed 117 S Ct 62 (1996) and Carroll Touch Inc V. Electro Mechamcal Sys, ..
Inc., 15F.3d 1573 1583 n. 10 (Fed Clr 1993), although the patentee lost on its 1nfr1ngement
clarm the court st111 held that the clarm was not “Ob_] ect1vely baseless,” thereby entrthng the B
.patentee to Noerr-Pennmgton 1mmumty from an antrtrust counterclarrh o ‘.

‘ One dlStrlCt court demed a motlon by a patentee (Brlstol Myers S(imbb Co. ) to |

dlSI’IllSS antrtrust claums brought agarnst it by several generlc comparnes related to the drug
busplrone In re Buspzrone Patent thzgatzon 185 F. Supp 2d 363 (S D N. Y 2002) The |

antitrust plamtrffs cent_ended that BMS engaged in fraud by subrmttmg 1nformat10n to the FDA
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that a patent covered the use of buspirone, when in fact it did not. The plaintiffs also contended
that after BMS listed the 365 patent in the Orange Book, it pursued patent infringement suits
against generic companies, and obtained an automatic stay of FDA approval of generic

products, knowing it was making false statements. The court agreed with the.antitrust plaintiffs

that there was no objective basis for BMS to assert that the patent claimed the use of buspirone, B

and diémissed patent infringement cases. BMS raised the Noerr-Pennington doctrine as a
defense to the antitrust suits. However, the court ruled that the act of listing was more in the -
‘nature of a ministerial act than a petitioning activity:(which constitutes an attempt by a private
party to influence government decision-making), that Noe’f‘r—Penningfon‘ immunity did not - - .
apply to its listing actions. BMS also argued that the listing was linked to its patent °
infringéfh'ent suit, bringing it within the scope of petitioning activity. However, the court ruled
that thé‘listing and lawsuits were independent acts, since BMS could have brought a suit R
mthoutmrelymg on the Orange Book listing. The court also ruled that a Walker-Process type =~
éxception'to Noerr-Pennington existed here for fraudulent mis-listing of the 365 patent. The
court also concluded that the patent listing and subsequent patent infringement suits were. .
Objectivély baseless and therefore came within the.' sham exception ‘of the "Noerr-Pennington
: dqc'trine.:
- An intefesﬁng question is whether -Noerr-Pennington immunity applies to pre-.-

‘ -iitigatic)n threats of litigation. In a decision by a divided panel, in Cardtoons, L.C. v. Major
League Baseball Players Association, 182 F.3d 1132 (10th Cir. 1999), the Tenth Circuit held

“that “whether or not they are consummated,” pre-litigation threats are entitled to-Noerr- -
y p g :
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Pennington immunity to the same extent as litigation itself. - Id..at 1137.  The court also held -
that the two-part PRE sham test must be applied-to pre-litigation threats. Jd. The court noted
that it was followmg the dec1310ns of three other circuits which have addressed the i issue.. Id at

" 1136, citing McGuire Oil Co. v. Mapco, Inc., 958 F.2d 1552, 1558-60 (11th Cir. 1992); CVD,

~ Inc. v. Raytheon Co., 769 F.2d 842, 850-51 (1st Cir. 1985); Coastal States. Mfz., Inc. v. Hunt,

694 F.2d 1358 (5th Cir. 1983). The court stated that applying the immunity to pre-litigation -

threats ‘-‘is especially important in the intellectual property context, Wh_ere_ warning letters are

| often used as a deterrent against infrinéement.’-’ Id at 1136, n.4, citing Matsushita Elec. Corp. v.
- Loral Corp., 974 F. Supp. 545;--359 (S.D.N.Y. 1997); Thermés Co. v. Igloo Prods. Corp., _1995 R
U.S. Dist. LEXIS.14221 (N.D. IlL.. Sept. 27, 1995). -

. «:+ “The reasoning in the Cardftoons panel decision quickly was adopted several .
other courts. See Miller Pipeline Corp. v.-British-Gas plc, 69 F. Supp.2d 1129, 1138 (S.D. Ind.
1999); Avery _Denn'ison Corp. v. Acco Brands;' Inc., .2000_ U.S. Dist..LEXIS 3938, *67 {C.D.,
Cal. Feb. 23, 2000). However, .on rehearing en banc; the Tenth Circuit rev,ersed:the panel
decision: Cardtoons, L.C. v. Major League Baseball Players Association, 208 F.3d 885 (10™.
Cir. 2000)." The court drew a distinction between Noerr-Pennington immunity from antitrust-.

| claims, and immunity based on the First Amendment right to petition to the government. The
court explained that Noerr-Pennington immunity is based, at least in part, on statutory
construction of the-Sherman Act and “is not completely. interchangeable with cases based solely
on the right to petition.” . Since the claims Vat issue were for prima facie tort, libel and -

negligence,:and,:werc_:' not:Sherman Act.claims; Noerr-Pennington did nqt_apply. - The court also

63




rejected an immunity based on the right to petition, since the Constitution requires that such

petition be made “to the Government.” The pre-litigation letters were riot Sent to the

government, nor even known to the government, prior to the declaratory judginent actior'i-'ﬁléd

by Cardtoons. A dissentiﬁg op1n10n would have gféﬁte.d 1mmun1ty from tort iiaijiiity"fOr'bré- h

litigation ceasis—aﬁd—deéiSt letters, in order to é‘providé breathing space to the First Amendment

rigiit to petiﬁdﬁ fhe .cou.rts; further t.hé'in.terests' that ri ght was dé'signeld tb Seﬁe; a'nd'pr.omdt"e
the ﬁﬁblic' interest in efficient disputé resolution.” |
o .’I‘;héiéecond Clrcult iias apprm}-ingl.y' :cite.c:i MéGuifé Oil, and stated tﬁa’t Noerr- |

Pehﬁinrgtbﬁ.i.mmuni't:y aﬁplies “éénefaiiy fd édminisﬁatii}e and éourt procéédings orto Steps
ﬁrelimiﬁary to such”l.)focée.dings..” PrimeTime 24 Joiﬁt Venture v. National Bfodd'c:&&t.ing Co.,
219 'F".éa 92,100 (2d Cir. 2000). The en banc Cardroons décision was cited approvingly in
Porsche Cars Novth America, Inc. v, Lioyd Design Corp., 2002 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 9612, *128-
130 (N.D: Ga. Mar. 28, 2002) (“the Noerr-Pennington doctrine does not immunizé parties from
li.at.i.lérilit‘j'r. based on clairﬁs ansmg out of i)urélly. priVaté communications outside the context of
litigation”).

B Altﬁdﬁéh originally appliéa-fd 't.‘ederal causes of éctidri, Noérr—Penningtqn also
haé becﬁra..ppliéd‘to' sfaté law causes of éc.ti.on. "R‘c.lines v. Sw:tch Mfg., 44 U.S.P.Q.Zd 1195 |
(I\:I.:D..:Cal. 1997, | -

C. COMPULSORY VERSUS PERMISSIVE ANTITRUST
~ COUNTERCLAIMS IN PATENT INFRINGEMENT ACTIONS
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Another issue which commonly arises in the patent/antitrust litigation context is

- whether an antitrust counterclaim is compulsory or permissive when raised in a patent
infringement action. In Tank Insulation Intl., Inc. v. Insultherm, Inc., 104 F.3d 83 (5th Cir.),

~cert. denied, 118 S. Ct. 265 ( I_997),_the Fifth Circuit held that a Sherman Act antitrust claim

-~ was-not a-compulsory counterclaim in-a patent infringement action. In this case, the district ... —

court had dismissed an antitrust claim by an alleged infringer, ruling that it was a compulsory
counterclaim to an earlier patent infringement action which had been waived by_ the alleged
infringer’s failure to assert it in the infringement answer. Or appeal, the Fifth Circuit found the

antitrust claim to meet the established definition of a compulsory counterclaim under Federal

- Rule of Civil Procedure 13(a), but relied on Mercoid Corp. v. Mid-Continent Inv. Co., 320 U.S.

661 (11944_), as _cr_egting a limiteti exception the_reto “for an_tttrust _egunterciair_ns: 111Wh10h the

- gravamen 1s the patent 1nfr1ngement lawsult 1n1t1ated by the coutlterclaun defendant ? Tctltk |

_Insulaz‘zon Int 1, Inc., 104 F 3d at 87 However the Flﬂh Circuit stopped short of extendmg thlS

_Mercozd exc_epti_on to every antitrust counter.e‘ta_lr‘n ;es_ultmg from_patent ;nfrlngement lltl_gattpn.

Because both Mercoid’s and Tank Insulation International’s counterclaims were so t‘actmtlly

| si_mil_ar in alleging “that_the pa_tel_lt infr_ingem_ent littgatio_rl violl_ated the ax_ltitrust laws,” the Fit’th

Circuit found it unnecessary to de01de whether all antltrust counterclalms should receive 11ke _

 treatment, Id at 87-88; see also Hydranautics v. FilmTec Corp., 70 F.3d 533 (9th Cir. 1995)
Courts questioning the validity of Mercoid, and indicating that antitrust

counterclaims grounded_qn assertion of patents are compulsory to an actiett for patent

inf_ringemeﬁt, include Critical-Vac Filtration Corp. v. Minuteman Int’l, 233 F.3d 697 (2d Cir.
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2000), cert. denied, 532 U.S. 1019 (2001), Glitsch, Inc. v. Koch Eng’g Co., 216 F.3d 1382 (Fed.
Cir. 2000), Burlington Indus., Inc. v. Milliken & Co., 690 F.2d 380, 389 (4th Cir. 1982) and
USM Corp. v. SPS Techs., Inc, 102 FRD. 167, 170-71 (N.D. TIL. 1984). |

“"'In Critical-Vac, the Second Circuit held that a Sherman Act monopolization

" claim based on ail aftémpt to enforce an invalid patent was 2 compulsory counterclaim to a - - - -

patenf 'infr;mgerﬁe.nt action. The court stéteﬁ that Merc"é'id shduld be limited to its facts, which it
characterized as an attempted mistse of 2 valid i)afeni; Critical- Vac,233F.3d at 702-03. In
Glitsch, the Federal Circuit &isﬁngﬁishecf Mercoid on the ground that it déalt with the ability to -
raise 'a'mis.use defense in zi-'sec'oqd'irifr.ingeﬁlent action when it had not been fréis'e& asadefense
in the first action, whereas fotsch iﬁi}bivéd a'deélarét&y ju&gment suit for misuse after a

motion to-amend the answer in the infringement action had been denied as untimely. Glitsch,

®L ¢ 216F3dat1385-86.

XL ANTITRUST AND MISUSE ISSUES IN
OTHER TYPES OF INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY

A, TRADEMARK LAW
The Lanham Act, in 15 U.S.C. § 1115(b)(7), explicitly provides that use of a
maik in violation of the antitrust laws of the United States is a defensé in trademark
. inf;ingén{eiitiactioﬁ's',: even fbr ihcohteétable tradefnérks. Howevef,’ successful assertion of this
deferis.e has jjfox}éri o be no easy' :tésk. See Carl Zeiss Stiftung v. VEB Carl Zeiss Jehd;:298_ F.

Supp. 1309, 1314-15 (S.D.N.Y. 1969) (dismissal of antitrust misuse defense because defendant
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could not meet heavy burden of proving that trademark itself was the “basic and fundamental

vehicle” used to accomplish the antitrust violation), a__fj_"d,_433 F.2d 686 (2d _Cir._ 1970), cert. o

denied, 403 U.S. 905 (1971). See also Estee Lauder Inc. v. Fragrance Counter Inc., 52
U.8.P.Q.2d 1786, 1789 (S.D.N.Y. 1999) (“an antitrust-related trademark misuse case is not

impossible to maintain as a matter of law. Nevertheless, the ﬂ?f?p,s_?_,i%Eﬁﬁ?@?b’_@fﬁ?ﬁz”)

- Whether a trademark “misuse” which does not rise to the level of an antitrust

violation is cognizable as a defense or affirmative cause of action is less clear. InJuno Online
Services, L. P..v. Juno Lighting, Inc., 979 F. Supp. 684 (N.D. I1l. 1997), the court refused to

' recogni_zo an affirmative cause of action for trademark misuse. Characterizing the history of

affirmative claims of patent misuse as “suspect,” and noting that plaintiff presented no case

permitting a claim for trademark misuse, the court dismissed a cause of action for trademark

misuse. In Northwestern Corp. v. Gabriel Mfg. Co., 48 U.S.P.Q.2d 1902 (N.D.Ill. 1998), the _

court likewise noted the checkered history of the trademark misuse defense. Characterizing
trademark misuse as a “phantom defense,” the court ruled that “if” the defense exists, “it
: probably is limited to misrepresentétioné;‘ just as patent and oopyrighf'ﬁii'sﬁse'is Jimited to

anticompetitive conduct.” Id at 1907-09.

B.  COPYRIGHT LAW

Similar to the patent misuse defense sometimes asserted in patent infringement
 suits, the defense of copyright misuse may be available to an alleged copyright infringer when

the _oopyright_qwn;er.hao utilized the copyright “in a manner violative of the public policy.-
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embodied in the grant of a copyright.” Lasercomb America, Inc. v. Reynolds, 911 F.2d 970,
978 (4th Cir. 1990). In Lasercomb, the Fourth Circuit held that it was copyright misuse for a
software deVeloper to include anticompetitive clauses in his licenses which could potentially

outlast the term of the copyright. Id. at 978-79. The Fourth Circuit also concluded that an

antitrust violation need not be shown in order to assert a successful copyright misuse defense.

1d. at 978. The Ninth Circuit re-affirmed the defense of copyright misuse in A&M Records, Inc.

v. Napster, Inc., 239 F.3d 1004 (9th Cir. 2001), but rejected its applicability to the case on the

| grounds that there was no evidence that the plaintiffs sought to control areas outside of their

grant of monopoly. Id. at 1071-72. Other circuits have recognized that copyright misuse is a
defense to a ;iaim of copyright infringement. See DSC Comm. Corp. v. Pulse Comm., Inc., 170
F3d 1354(Fed Cir. 1999); Triad Systems Corp. v. Southeastern Express Co., 64 F.3d 1330
(9th Cir. 1995) (recognizing copyright misuse defense).

Although the copYright mijsuse defense is available in some circuits; this is not
the rule ever;whcre. Because the Supreme Court has never explicitly recognized the copyright
misﬁse defense, some courts have not allowed it to be asserted in defense of a copyright
infringement action. See, e.g,, Allen-Myland, Inc. v. International Business Machines Corp.,
746 F. Supp. 520, 549 n.45 (E.D. Pa. 1990) (coﬁrt noted in dictum that “[m]ost courts which
have addressed [the validity of the copyright misuse defense] have held that violation of the

antitrust laws cannot provide a valid defense to a copyright infringement claim™). .
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